—THE VIETNAM WAR —

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

The military involvement of the United
States in the affairs of Vietnam spanned the ad-
ministration of five U.S. presidents and almost
thirty years. In 1945 the Truman administration
provided aid to the French who were trying to
maintain their Vietnamese colony from Viet-
namese rebels led by Ho Chi Minh. Eisenhower
believed in the domino theory. Roarke (1998)
quoted Eisenhower: “You have a row of domi-
noes set up. You knock over the first one, and
what will happen to the last one is the certainty
that it will go over very quickly” (1067). Roarke
noted that Eisenhower “warned that the fall of
Southeast Asia to communism could well be fol-
lowed by the fall of Japan, Taiwan, and the
Philippines” (1067). By 1954 the U.S. was provid-
ing 75 percent of the cost of the war to the French.
However, Eisenhower stopped short of provid-
ing troops to the French. France was defeated
and signed a truce in 1954. This truce created the
countries of North and South Vietnam. Kennedy
continued to provide support to the government

of South Vietnam and ultimately supported
South Vietnam in the conflict between the two
nations, providing troops and materials. Johnson
continued the support, making the Vietham War
“America’s War.” Again Roarke commented:

The Americanization of the war increased the
number of U.S. military personnel in Vietnam to
540,000 at peak strength in 1968 and to more
than three million total throughout the war’s du-
ration. Yet not only did this massive intervention
fail to defeat the North Vietnamese and their al-
lies in South Vietnam, but it added a new bur-
den to the costs of fighting the cold war—intense
discord among the people at home. Believing
that the war was immoral or futile, hundreds of
thousands of Americans protested it. (1138)

Nixon was president of the United States
when the formal accord ending the conflict in
Vietnam was signed in Paris in 1973.

During the Vietnamese conflict, hundreds
of thousands of U.S. military troops were being
sent overseas to fight on the front. One of the
most important aspects of a military conflict is
the ability to care for the casualties at the front,
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transport the critically wounded to adequate
medical facilities, and return those well enough
to the battlefield. Militarily savvy people have
known this since the Crimea, when the British
sent Nightingale to care for the troops. They have
known it since the Civil War, when most of the
casualties resulted from disease and inadequate
patient care. It is the reason people like Bicker-
dyke, Dix, and Barton were accepted at the battle-
front. It was obvious in World War II, when the
Cadet Nurse Corps was formed to provide
nurses to care for the troops. During the Viet-
namese conflict, when hundreds of thousands of
U.S. troops were being sent to Indonesia, it was
clear that health care providers were essential.
Male physicians were drafted and sent to the
front, and nurses were heavily recruited. The
Nurse Corps Candidate Program was instituted,
a program similar to the Cadet Nurse Corps of
World War II.

Possibly more nursing literature has been
written about the effects of war on veterans and
nurses from the Vietnam War than any other. As
noted above, it was America’s War. It is the war
remembered and experienced on some level by
most Americans over forty years old. What hap-
pened there will impact Americans for genera-
tions. It is impossible to review in this work all
the nursing literature concerning nurses serving
in Vietnam. Perhaps two summaries of the con-
flict will provide a sense of what nurses endured.
The first is from a 1995 edition of the Nebraska
Nurse, the official publication of the Nebraska
Nurses Association:

The Vietnam War started insidiously. Al-
though American military advisors were a pres-
ence in the area from 1945, their numbers
escalated. . . . No one is exactly clear about how
or why but the numbers grew steadily after that
until the early 1960s, when thousands of Ameri-
can soldiers were involved.

The first American military hospital was
established in 1962 and the number of military
personnel and nurses grew steadily until the
war was halted in 1973. Initially female military
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personnel were not “in country” but soon the
need for nurses outstripped the number of male
nurses available.

In the end, over 250,000 women had
served, 11,500 of whom actually served in Viet-
nam, or “Nam” as it came to be known. Women
worked as clerks, mapmakers, intelligence spe-
cialists, photographers, air traffic controllers,
Red Cross and USO volunteers. But the largest
number of women in uniform were nurses, sent
to care for soldiers and civilians in hospital beds
that grew in number in 11 years from zero
to 5,283.

Air Force, Army, and Navy nurses served
on helicopter med-evac flights which lifted-off
directly from the battlefield, in inflatable hospi-
tals in tenuous settings within Vietnam, on jet
med-evac missions that picked up battlefield ca-
sualties from units in Vietnam and delivered
them to hospital centers in the Philippines,
Japan, and Okinawa for stabilization before the
long flight home.

Women of the Army Nurse Corps aver-
aged two years service in Vietham. Many were
novices—only 35% had more than two years
nursing experience when they left the U.S. Army
nurses were 79% female, some were married,
most were not. They served a 12 month tour of
duty often living in tents and quonset huts. The
quarters “leaked, were bug infested, noisy, and
almost always humid.” Some stabilized war
wounded GIs in transportable, inflated “build-
ings” which posed constant problems with
maintaining electricity and drainage.

While nurses at more permanent sites
wore white duty uniforms, most others wore
lightweight fatigues. Nurses worked a six day
week, in twelve hour shifts, “except during
emergencies when everyone worked.” Hospital-
based nurses were deployed to surgical ICUs,
recovery and emergency rooms, and in med-
surg areas.

As in other wars, hospital admissions for
disease outnumbered battlefield injuries. Dis-
eases commonly treated were malaria, viral hepa-
titis, and diarrheal, skin, and venereal diseases.
The most common diagnosis was FUO—Fever of
Unknown Origin.



The length of stay of battle-wounded sol-
diers was shorter than in previous wars due to
the availability of whole blood, rapid aerial
evacuation, and advanced medical and nursing
procedures. The hospital mortality rate was
2.6% per 1,000 compared to 4.5% per 1,000
during World War II.

The war that began insidiously somehow
ended. It was not a popular war, many refused
to serve, and those who served, nurses as well as
soldiers, came home to find their service was, by
and large, not appreciated. The Vietnam War is a
wound slow to mend. The first sign of healing
was construction and subsequent appreciation
of the Vietnam War Memorial Wall, known to
many veterans as “the Wall.” The 10 year strug-
gle and dedication of the Vietham Women’s
Memorial is an indication that the tours of duty
by women as well as men are now honored. The
scar tissue of that “ugly little war”, although still
tender, is forming. (Nebraska Nurse, 1995)

The second account is that of author Eliza-

beth M. Norman, summarizing the gathering of
the accounts of fifty nurses who had served in
Vietnam:

The nurses’ professional and personal
experience in Vietnam was complex. It was a
year involving difficult and rewarding nursing
situations and dangerous and satisfying per-
sonal situations. Their twelve month tours were
divided into three periods: the first three months
of adjustment, the middle six months of routine
when Vietham became familiar, and the final
three months. The final three months were an
ambivalent time. The women wanted to go
home but they were torn by the friends they
would leave behind.

The stressful experiences of the nurses in
Vietnam were not very different from those of
nurses in other wars. The youthful age of the pa-
tients, the severity of injury seen, the lack of
progress information on transferred patients,
the death of friends, the unpreventable deaths,
working with wounded enemy patients, and the
triage system all proved difficult. Often the stress
was balanced by friends, patients who recov-
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ered, and the ability to practice and be respected
for their nursing skills.

Two factors, the branch of military service
and the year served in Vietnam were responsible
for different patterns in the wartime nursing
experience. Each service had a unique practice
environment—shipboard, aircraft or land based —
that resulted in disparate environmental and
combat dangers. Those nurses who served in
Vietnam early in the war, 1965-1967, worked
with traditional battle injuries and enjoyed some
level of support from home. Those nurses in
Vietnam during the peak of fighting, 1967-1970,
experienced more triage situations and enemy
attacks at the same time people began to openly
question the purpose and wisdom of the war. By
1970-1973, nurses worked with more self-
inflicted wounds and drug overdoses. It was
hard to maintain morale and be a participant in
an unpopular war.

More nurses returned home with a stronger
commitment to the profession. They were con-
vinced that nursing could have a direct impact
on patient care. The decision to remain in critical
care work, however, varied greatly. Over half of
the fifty nurses decided to leave this specialty
area for work in clinical areas where there
would be fewer dying patients and injured
young people.

The level of Post-Traumatic Stress Disor-
der decreased from their first year home when
over 30% reported high level of distress to a
level of 14% at the time of the interviews. The
nurses at greatest risk for PTSD included those
who experienced more personal danger and
professional stress in Vietnam, and those
women who did not have a strong social net-
work after the war. An examination of PTSD,
however, does not provide a complete portrait of
the nurses’ reaction to serving in the war.

Vietnam was unique in their lives. Noth-
ing before or after compares with the stresses
and the rewards of serving overseas. Because of
its uniqueness, the war continues to be a focal
point with which the other life experiences are
compared (Norman, 1992).
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ANONYMOUS

hen I was a little girl, my grandmother
Wwas hospitalized with appendicitis.
I thought her nurses were wonderful.

They were very attentive to her needs and some-
times even let me help with her care. It was then
that I decided to become a nurse. During high
school I was a “pinky,” volunteering at the hospi-
tal. Sometimes there was just a nursing student
and me to take care of a whole floor of patients.
I loved the work and never wavered in my deci-
sion to be a nurse.

I received my BSN from Cornell Univer-
sity-New York Hospital School of Nursing in
1966. I joined the Army Student Nurse program
for the last two years of my education, with a
commitment to serve on active duty for three
years. My first duty assignment was at Walter
Reed. I had married a few weeks after gradu-
ation, so my husband and I moved to Washing-
ton DC. I had been assured by my army recruiter
that I would be assigned to a post where my hus-
band would be able to accompany me. Too late I
discovered that the army had no intention of
keeping that promise. Walter Reed was a won-
derful arena for learning the practical skills that
had not been taught at Cornell. Unfortunately,
seven months later, I received orders for Viet-
nam. | shipped out, and my civilian husband
stayed behind. We grew apart during that year,
and the marriage ended soon after I returned.

My first duty station was the 67th Evacuation
Hospital in Qui Nhon. I arrived in September
1967 and served there for three months. Mostly I
was assigned to medical wards or the POW ward.
In the 67th the POWs were kept in a separate
ward. We had both medical and surgical patients
in the POW ward, which was challenging from a
nursing perspective. However, I did learn many
skills that would help me later. The care of patients
with malaria, hepatitis, and multiple gunshot
wounds was not stressed at Cornell. Nursing in
Vietnam was definitely on-the-job training!

In December 1967, I was one of several
nurses who volunteered to transfer to the 71st
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Evacuation Hospital in Pleiku. Pleiku is in the cen-
tral highlands of Vietnam, very close to the Mon-
tagnard villages where special forces operated.
Some units a few miles north of Pleiku were taking
heavy casualties, and more nurses were needed
to handle the large influx of patients. In Pleiku I
was assigned to the post-op unit in the surgical
“T.” This building was designed in the shape of a
T to facilitate handling multiple patients arriving
at the same time. The ER/triage area was in the ver-
tical part of the T. A hallway connected the ER/
triage area to the six-bed OR located in half of the
horizontal part of the T. Patients were lined up in
the hallway to await their turn in the OR. From the
OR patients were sent to post-op, which was lo-
cated in the other half of the horizontal part of
the T. Post-op was a thirty-six bed unit with
eighteen beds for a recovery room and eighteen
beds for surgical intensive care.

Working there was a very challenging nurs-
ing experience. We were always busy but were
usually well-staffed with all the supplies and
equipment we needed. The only time we had a
supply problem was when a short round, aimed
at one of the military installations near us, blew
up our water supply. Until it was repaired, we
had no clean water. We brushed our teeth and
administered medications with soda, beer, or
whatever clean liquid was available. The patients
in post-op were the most severely wounded in
the hospital. Our job was to stabilize the patients
and evacuate them to hospitals in Japan or the
Philippines. After that we rarely found out what
happened to them. Sometimes our patients got
well enough to be sent back to their units. At
those times we wished we hadn’t done our job
quite so well. Sometimes our patients died, al-
though not as many as one would suppose.

Medical care at the 71st was the best I have
ever seen. For me, nothing in civilian life could
ever equal the level of care we were able to give
at the 71st. Of course, no one had a life outside
the hospital to distract us from our mission. If we
needed a doctor or more nurses and corpsmen,
we went to their hooch and woke them up. If



they weren’t there, we would check the clubs
or the other hooches, which were gathering
places for bridge games and other fun activities.
Even after exhausting twelve-hour shifts, almost
everyone was willing to come back to help out
when needed.

Our ward was the only one in the hospital
with regular hospital beds with side rails. This
was because our patients were too sick to get
under their beds if an alert was sounded. We
went on alert frequently because of our location,
which was in the middle of a triangle made up of
the Pleiku airbase, engineer hill, and artillery hill.
When an alert sounded, almost always in the
middle of the night, we would put on flak jackets
and helmets, put tree branches across the side
rails, and throw an extra mattress over the tree
branches. These mattresses were to protect the
patients from falling debris in the event of a
direct hit on the hospital. The staff would get
under the beds of the sickest patients and creep
out with flashlights to render needed care. As the
assistant head nurse, I was in charge from 7:00
p-m. until 7:00 a.m. The head nurse was in charge
from 7:00 a.m. until 7:00 p.m.

There was one policy on the post-op ward
that I never agreed with. The POWs were placed
in whatever bed was available—sometimes in
the bed next to a soldier wounded in the same
firefight. POWSs were to be given the same level
of care that was given to the United States sol-
diers and Allied troops. I found that policy espe-
cially difficult when many wounded arrived at
the same time, and all our time and skills were
needed to care for our own guys. We knew that if
the POWs got better, they would be turned over
to an interrogation team. Nobody on staff knew
exactly what happened in those interrogations,
but many rumors circulated suggesting that
these guys were going to end up dead anyway. It
seemed like a waste of time and resources to go
to extraordinary means to patch up the POWs.
Of course, we did try to give them good care be-
cause that is what nurses do, regardless of the
patient’s politics. I always felt sorry for our sol-
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diers, though, when they realized the guy in the
next bed was one of the enemy soldiers.

Many of my experiences on the post-op ward
were memorable. There are some experiences
that are difficult to talk about, even thirty years
later. There was a fourteen-year-old civilian Viet-
namese boy who had lost a leg in a firefight in his
village. The surgeons amputated his leg below
the knee. He could have lived, but he didn’t want
to. One of our Vietnamese workers told us that
he would not be able to survive in his culture
with a prosthetic leg. He refused to eat or co-
operate with his care in any way. He just gave up
and he died about a week later.

One of our U.S. soldiers had his arm ampu-
tated above the elbow. It was very difficult for the
staff to take care of him. He would throw his
food and bath water at anyone who came near
him. He also would shout curses and threats that
were very disturbing to other patients as well as
the staff. On the day we had finally had enough
of his behavior, I was determined to break
through his rage. My goal was just to get him to
stop his verbal and physical assaults on everyone
around him. I pulled a chair up next to his bed
and told him I was going to remain there until he
was ready to talk about his feelings instead of
acting out in inappropriate ways. It took three
hours of silence, periodically broken by episodes
of salty language, but he finally opened up. After
three hours he began to sob. He reluctantly let
me hold his hand. When the sobbing subsided,
he began to talk about his anger and his fear of
facing life without part of his arm. He was afraid
of losing his girlfriend and being unable to have
a fulfilling career. The emotion just poured out of
him. That was the first of many hours we spent
together talking about his future. He became more
cooperative with less acting out in negative ways.
By the time he was evacuated to the Philippines,
he had become a staff favorite.

There was another memorable patient who
was in a coma for three weeks. He had a head
wound and didn’t respond to any stimuli. His
condition was much too unstable to evacuate
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him. One night we were on alert status with all
the lights out. We could hear the sound of rock-
ets whistling overhead and the loud booms when
they landed. I was under his bed when all of a
sudden I heard cussing. The corpsman under the
next bed and I scrambled out, and sure enough
our comatose patient had awakened to the sounds
of incoming rounds. His condition continued to
improve, and he was eventually evacuated to the
Philippines.

There was one patient that I became way
too close to. A few docs, nurses, and other per-
sonnel were having a cookout when we heard
several incoming medevac choppers. We all ran
to the chopper pad, offloaded the patients, car-
ried the litters to the triage area, and began the
protocol for handling multiple wounded. Some
were so severely wounded that we knew we
could not save them. They were moved to an iso-
lated area with a nurse and a corpsman who
would administer pain meds and try to keep
them as comfortable as possible until they died.
Others were prepped for surgery and lined up on
gurnies in the hallway in the order they were to
be taken into the operating room. We had only
six operating tables, so sometimes patients had
to wait. Minor wounds were handled in the
triage area.

Later that night during my regular shift, I
received a patient from the operating room who
had multiple wounds from a fragmentation
grenade. I later found out he was from North
Carolina and had a wife and two children. When
we got him cleaned up, the wounds didn’t look
so bad from the outside. We knew he was in seri-
ous trouble, however, because some of his frag
wounds were to the chest. Wounds from a high-
speed projectile entering the chest cavity fre-
quently resulted in a condition called wet lung,
which, in 1968, was usually fatal. The patient’s
lungs gradually filled with fluid until he could
no longer breathe. These patients initially feel very
fortunate because they made it to the hospital
and through surgery. With pain medication they
were comfortable and anticipated recovery. To-
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ward the end of my tour, we had learned to man-
age wet lung more effectively, but for this soldier
that would be too late. We worked as hard as we
could to save him, but ultimately we failed.

At first, he was happy and fun to be with.
We played games and wrote letters to his family.
He loved to talk about life back in North Carolina
and what he planned to do when he returned
home. His surgeon and I became very close to this
patient. As his condition deteriorated, we put in
a chest tube. When that was no longer effective,
we put in a trach tube. By that time he no longer
thought he was going to make it. He would cover
his trach tube and talk about never seeing his
family again and what it would be like to die.
Soon he became incoherent and sometimes com-
bative. He needed arm restraints to keep him from
pulling out his trach tube.

One night he succeeded in removing the
trach tube and was able to say a few words as I
reinserted it. He called me by name and begged
me to let him go. Putting that tube back was the
most difficult thing I have done in my nursing
career. | put the tube back in, and he lived two
more days. That decision haunts me to this day.
The surgeon and I were sitting with him when he
died. Because we were still learning about the
pathology of wet lung, the surgeon wanted to do
a partial autopsy of the chest. I assisted with that
procedure too. It didn’t seem right to allow any-
one else to do it.

It was around this time that I started taking
uppers to stay alert during the long twelve-hour
overnight shift. I was already having trouble sleep-
ing, so downers became more and more necessary
as time went on. I told myself the drugs were
necessary to keep me functioning at a high level.
They did not become a habit at that time, and
when I was transferred to a malaria ward, I no
longer needed them. On the malaria ward I was
the head nurse working days in a less stressful
environment. Unfortunately, the groundwork had
been laid for a more serious problem later on.

It was on the malaria ward that I cared for a
very sick little Viethamese boy. It was a few



weeks after Tet (Vietnamese New Year) of 1968.
Some marines were delivering clothing to an or-
phanage. They saw an unconscious child on the
floor with a partially eaten rat in his mouth. They
picked him up, brought him to the medical ward,
and put him in my lap. We didn’t think we were
going to be able to save him. He was severely
malnourished and had multiple medical prob-
lems, including intestinal worms. His abdomen
was swollen, and his eyes were swollen shut.
When the swelling subsided, we discovered he
was blind in one eye. He had a very flattened af-
fect, probably due to emotional and psychological
problems. We found out later that he spent three
days in a hooch with the bodies of his parents,
who had been killed during the Tet offensive.
The other patients would try to make him smile
by blowing up surgical gloves and drawing funny
faces on them. We had our Vietnamese workers
try to talk with him. We tried everything we
could think of to encourage him to interact with
us. Nothing worked for several weeks. Gradually
his health improved, but he was still withdrawn
and uncommunicative. One night the patients
and the boy were watching The Lone Ranger on
TV. There was a lot of gunfire in the show. Sud-
denly the boy started to act out the gunfight.
Other patients joined in, and soon about fifteen
guys were running around the ward having a
pretend gunfight. Although others were partici-
pating, the boy seemed to be in a world of his
own. Everyone stopped to watch him because
the sight was so mesmerizing.

Apparently, he was able to work out some
of the pain through playacting, because from that
time on he began to communicate with us. We
brought back the Vietnamese interpreter and
finally learned about some of the horror he had
experienced. His health continued to improve,
and he began to speak English. No one wanted to
send him back to the orphanage, so we kept him.
At that time Americans were not permitted to
adopt the children.

He continued to live at the hospital, even
though many of the staff had completed their
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tour of duty and returned home. I was able to
keep track of him for a while after returning
home. Eventually however, the hospital closed
down and I lost track of where he was. I was in
graduate school at the time, but I reenlisted to re-
turn to Vietnam to find him. Rules had changed
by 1970, and adopting Vietnamese orphans was
now permitted. I was never able to find him,
even with the help of several army units. I hope
he was adopted and brought to the United States
because, as Americanized as he was, I don’t think
he would have been allowed to live after the fall
of Saigon.

I'joined The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-
day Saints a few weeks before I returned to Viet-
nam for my second tour. I was divorced from my
first husband soon after the completion of my
first tour and was living with my parents while I
awaited my orders. The missionaries were tracting
in our neighborhood. They found me working in
my mom’s flower garden. I told them I was inter-
ested in learning about their church, but there
was no chance that I would be baptized. I didn’t
know anything about the “Mormon” Church and
was simply curious. When we reached the dis-
cussion of the plan of salvation, I was intrigued.
It seemed to be what I had always believed, even
though I had never heard it before. It just felt
right. I had always been active in another church,
but I remember sitting in church on Sunday
thinking there had to be more to it than what I
was hearing. Why did we go to church on Sun-
day and forget about it the rest of the week? After
that lesson with the missionaries, events happened
very quickly. I hurried through the remaining
discussions and was baptized two weeks before I
left for my second tour in Vietnam.

I arrived at my first duty station in Da
Nang. There was an LDS congregation in the
town, but I had no transportation to get there.
For a few weeks I was able to borrow a staff car
from one of the officers who was trying to help
find my orphan boy. That luxury ended, how-
ever, when it was discovered that a nurse was
driving a staff car. I was soon asked to play the

167



Latter-day Saint Nurses at War

organ at a nondenominational service on the
base. I began to fall further and further away
from the LDS Church and the values encom-
passed within it.

My second tour in Vietnam, which was in
1970, is largely a blur. I was unable to find the
boy I was looking for. Many of our patients were
being treated for drug overdoses, self-inflicted
wounds, and sometimes wounds inflicted by
each other. Morale was low in many units. Amer-
ican troops were being withdrawn and the war
was being turned over to the South Vietnamese
army, with Americans participating only as advi-
sors. The combat-wounded patients that we saw
frequently told us they would not have been
wounded if South Vietnamese troops had func-
tioned as they had been advised to by their
American counterparts. It was a very discourag-
ing time for many of us. Unfortunately, I re-
sponded by resuming the abuse of medications.
I would write prescriptions to get the drugs I
wanted. It was never necessary to take drugs
from the wards where I worked. However, my
job performance suffered in many ways. Eventu-
ally I was sent home to finish my military career
at a stateside hospital. As I was being processed
out of the army, my discharge physical showed a
growth in my right lung. I was hospitalized for
tests to determine what was wrong with me.

During the night I would put on my uni-
form and go to the pharmacy to have prescrip-
tions filled that I wrote for myself. Of course this
was very much against regulations, and I was
eventually caught. The pharmacist, who noticed
the irregularity, sent for me. When confronted
with the evidence, I confessed everything. I was
astonished that he was kind to me. He seemed to
be more concerned about my welfare than about
my illegal behavior. We talked for quite a long
time. Eventually the conversation turned to spiri-
tual matters and church affiliations. I did not
want my behavior to reflect unfavorably on the
LDS Church, so I did not tell him I had been bap-
tized. I did tell him, however, that I had taken the
missionary discussions and felt a closer affinity
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to the LDS Church than to any other. It was then
that he told me he was a bishop in the LDS
Church. It was the most amazing single moment
in my life. I don't believe in coincidences of that
magnitude. I knew, with certainty, that Heavenly
Father had led me to this particular pharmacist.
I knew that regardless of the temporal and spiri-
tual laws I had broken, Heavenly Father knew
me and still cared about me. It was the moment
that began a long and difficult path back to full
activity in the Church. I spent many Sundays
with this wonderful man and his family. He had
several children, a black poodle, and a wonderful
wife who welcomed me into their family. They
helped me believe that redemption, even for me,
was possible through the sacrifice of our Savior,
Jesus Christ.

Now, thirty years later, I have a wonderful
life. I have been married for twenty-four years to
a terrific man. I have a lovely family, including a
granddaughter who is heading for college this
year and a grandson who brings me great joy
during his annual summer visits. The path back
was not straight or easy. I have had the help of
wonderful bishops and branch presidents along
the way. Many visiting teachers have been there
to pick me up when I stumbled. Attending the
temple is a continuing source of strength and
peace. I have been truly blessed by the miracle of
this church and the love of my Father in Heaven.

JOANN COURSEY
ABEGGLEN

was actually raised in a military family. My
Ifather was in the air force, so my whole life I

just kind of traveled around the world and
have been a part of that. When I came to BYU, I
actually did a first year in dietetics. After that first
year I went home for the summer and worked in
the local hospital in northern California. They
hired me in dietetics so that I could kind of get a
feel for that. However, I fell in love with what
was going on on the floor. I said to myself, “You



know, I'm more interested in the people and not
the food they're eating.” So I came back to BYU
the next fall and because the classes were similar,
I just switched my major into nursing. In the fall
of 1963 it wasn’t difficult to get into nursing.
I'said, “This is where I want to be.” I was always
glad that I made that decision a number of years
ago. I love nursing. It's where my heart is.

I graduated in 1967, and that fall a friend of
mine, Leslie Finehauer, and I were accepted into
graduate school at the University of Utah. We went
to Salt Lake City to graduate school. We were
poor graduate students on a stipend, working
during the summer as nurses in California. We
worked the night shift in an ICU unit. We de-
cided that we'd never work nights again after
working that whole summer on the night shift.

We came back in the fall, and there was a
fellow who was the officer in charge of the med-
evac unit at Hill Air Force Base. He was recruiting
flight nurses for his Air Force Reserve medevac
unit. He wanted to know if we wanted to join.
They would provide us with education and send
us off to flight school. The money sounded good,
and we thought, “Well, we're adventurous peo-
ple.” So we signed up for the Air Force Reserves.
We were commissioned second lieutenants. That
year we did a variety of monthly training. The
following summer we were accepted into nurses’
flight school, a six-week course at Brooks Air
Force Base in Texas. The med techs were trained
separately. Our classmates in graduate school
asked if we were going to spend the summer
working on our thesis. We said, “No, we are
going to flight school.” Once we had been to
flight school and were fully qualified as flight
nurses, we could be of more service to the unit.
We could also be called into work during our two
weeks’ active duty as flight nurses on the flight
teams that were going in and out of Vietnam at
that time. We could fly from Travis Air Force
Base in California into the Philippines, or from
the Philippines taking groups into Japan, and
then from Japan back to the United States. We
were really well trained. We had six weeks of
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gruel. Between classes we had practice flights.
We practiced everything and flew regularly.

We saw the first Nightingale. This was the
very first plane that was designated for use by
the military as a hospital plane. We didn't get to
fly on it, but we got to go through it before it was
deployed into service. They were designed late
in the war, about 1969. There were supposed to
be three or four of these planes. They actually
carried only fifteen or twenty patients, but they
had critical care units designed into them. They
were really luxurious from a patient care stand-
point. We flew in the C-141. It was a huge cargo
plane that was transformed by putting in seats
and beds or stretcher racks. It then became a hos-
pital because of the equipment brought on board.
It had everything —equipment, suction, oxygen—
built right into the plane. It was used domestically
to fly military patients around the United States.
It wasn't really capable of flying overseas. It wasn't
big enough, and it couldn’t be used as a kind of
dual system. Usually the crews on the C-141s
went over in the plane, reconfigured it, picked
up their patients, and flew out as a hospital ship.
It was a huge plane, and we just slid seats in and
usually designated some areas for stretchers.

Sometimes we took short trips. If I was just
flying between the Philippines and Japan, I
might make that run a couple of times and then
come back and pick up a group of patients. Usu-
ally we flew only one-way with patients, such as
into the United States to Travis. I came more into
Travis because it had a big military hospital and
they could stage patients out of there. Usually
another crew would pick patients up and distrib-
ute them throughout the country. We had limits
on our flying time. The crews could fly only so
many hours, and then they would have to have
some down time.

The flying team consisted of three nurses
and three med techs. We had doctors available to
answer questions, but I believe it was primarily
the nurses and med techs who made the deci-
sions. We could use the radio over the Pacific to
call a physician and say, “By the way, this is what
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I have here.” We always had a motto that nobody
died on our flight. That was possible because the
nurse who was responsible for selecting the pa-
tients that we were flying out was very careful to
select people who were pretty stable. Even though
we were careful, we could still have ninety patients
with a maximum of ten of those patients who
were trached on Bird respirators on the plane at
a time. We could have only so many psychiatric
patients because it was hard to know how they
would respond to the plane and close quarters
during the flight.

With three nurses and three med techs, we
really moved. We had to be very aware of what
was happening to our patients. Some patients
had abdominal wounds. The wounds were never
sutured but were open, because high altitude
changed body cavity pressures and would have
disrupted sutures. The Heimlich valve on chest
tubes was developed during the Vietnam War in
order to allow patients with chest tubes to fly
without wreaking havoc with chest pressures.
You couldn’t have glass bottles or any other kind
of bottle attached to the chest tube when you
were flying. The Heimlich valve was a one way
valve that allowed the air out of the chest with
the change of air pressure at high altitude but
didn't allow anything else to get sucked back in.
As we flew, any air trapped in a cavity could
cause a problem. That’s why we couldn’t have a
lot of wounds that were sutured very tight. We
packed a lot of neutracaine in the wounds for
pain control.

When we checked blood pressures, we had
to make sure our stethoscopes were really in our
ears because we always had the sound of en-
gines. Listening to breath sounds and making
sure that lungs were really expanded or getting
vital signs could be a little tricky. Those were the
days before we had automatic reading machines
and telemetry. We had to be able to hear or pal-
pate it out. We learned these things in flight
school. They taught us about the changes that go
with altitude changes, the physiological things
that take place in patients, and some of the issues
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that we had to look for and deal with. They
taught us how to gather our information. We had
a lot of practice listening with stethoscopes be-
cause we really didn’t have heart monitors.

We did have the Bird respirators—the green
machines—from the sixties. We basically set a
peak inspiratory pressure on those, hooked the
patient up, and hoped our patient was getting
enough oxygen. We could blend it and we could
humidify some. That was about it. Nothing like
the sophisticated machines we have today. There
was no such thing as a respiratory tech. Nurses
did all the suctioning and made all the changes
in the respirators. There were no blood gases. We
had to use our assessment skills to decide if the
patient was hypoxic and needed more oxygen.
We really had to solve all of our own problems in
the air. Many times the key to that was doing
good assessment and making good selections on
the ground.

Assessments on the ground could take sev-
eral hours. One or two nurses would go out to do
all of the assessments. They looked at the pa-
tients who were leaving and then went through
and carefully checked the patients, gathered the
data, and decided who would go. We did a basic
assessment, checked out all the injuries, and classi-
fied them. We could say, “We’ve got so many of
level-four patient,” or level-three or whatever.
These were the walking wounded. We divided
them up as to how many we could take. “Okay,
this is the group. Here’s our list.” We'd make a
list of the patients we would be taking out on our
flight, and then the ambulances would collect
those patients and bring them out. Then we would
load them on and place them where we wanted
them. Once we got everybody in place we'd go.

The pilots were great, too. I know that in
some of the other crews if they ran into real serious
issues they would find a place to land. “We're
close, only an hour out of —.” They may have
had to divert to Japan and gone in when some-
body really went bad on them and was in big
trouble. “We’ll find you calm air,” or “This is
what’s coming up, so sit down for a while.” It



was like being a stewardess on the plane. We just
laughed about that.

Usually, if you were out on the flight, you
were busy. There was no “I'm going to sit down
and rest for an hour; I have nothing to do.” Be-
tween the six of us, we kept moving. We checked
everybody, checked vital signs, changed dress-
ings, and reinforced things on a continual basis.
We were generally moving the whole flight until
we got to point B and signed them off. Then we
sat down and rested. Usually the flight nurse—
the head nurse—would be the one who was re-
sponsible for signing the paper work. If all the
patients were going to the same institution, she
would check the patients and make the report.
We kept brief notes of medications, dressing
changes, and IVs. We usually didn’t give blood
in flight.

I loved the marines. The marine patients
who had minor injuries and were ambulatory
were always attentive to their marine buddies who
needed help or who could possibly get a little out
of hand. They would say, “We’ll help them out,”
or “I think that he’s really in a lot of pain, but he’s
not saying anything to you.” This would allow
one of the med techs to get to them.

We never had anybody die on our flights.
I think the toughest flight of all was towards the
end of 1970. We were flying a lot of burn patients,
taking them to Travis and Brooks, which was
a burn center. The burn patients were the hard-
est. Their burns were caused by napalm. At that
time the treatment for burns was to basically just
wrap the patient. Our patients were all wrapped
up and sedated with morphine in hopes of get-
ting them to the States without too much pain.
Some of them were pretty badly burned, some
over 50 percent of their body and on respirators.
The ones who were super high risk and couldn’t
really handle the flight all the way back from the
Philippines would be staged out from Vietnam.
They’d come to the Philippines and then go to
Kara, Japan, and then to Travis, and eventually
to Brooks.

The burn patients smelled. They had de-
brided the burns some, but there was still a lot of
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debridement to do. I can still remember the smell
of burned flesh. Five or six hours in the plane
with a group of burn patients was hard. We were
glad to get them to Travis and off the plane. We
kept them sedated and they all had IVs so they
weren’t hurting. We tried to make them as com-
fortable as possible, but it was hard on a stretcher
where they couldn’t turn or move very well.

The med techs were wonderful. I don’t think
that any flight nurse would have been successful
without them. If you had a good one, you knew
the flight would go well. You could assign them
and say, “Okay, this is your group.” We usually
broke the assignments down among the three
nurses to oversee what the enlisted people were
doing. If your medic was on top of things, he
would come to you and say, “Such and such is
going on. Let’s do this and this.” It was a wonder-
ful blessing to have these kind of people working
with you. If you were splitting ninety patients up
among six people, it was important to have staff
who were sharp.

There was a lot of drug use in east Asia, and
there were a lot of soldiers who were into drug use.
Some of them were on the verge of exploding just
because of the psychological effects of the war
and the pressures of returning home. I didn't have
that experience, for which I am grateful. I prayed
every trip that this hospital ship would get from
point A to point B.

I was never in a situation where I was con-
cerned for my life—no bad storms, mechanical
problems, or anything of that type. Sometimes
we were grounded because of issues on the
ground or things that came up about the plane
during the flight checks. In all my flying experi-
ence we never had problems with the aircraft. An
airplane is really a flying box, so there were few
amenities. We had oxygen and oxygen masks. It
was kind of rough living because we sat strapped
into jump seats. There were two restrooms on
board for ninety people. The patients who flew
on stretchers were all catheterized. It was just the
easiest way to transport people. The guys were
kind of used to a few bathrooms for lots of people,
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and the ladies were sort of outnumbered by the
multitudes and just had to take our turn.

Our crews were always really nice to us. If
we stayed over, they always made sure we had
housing and that we could get around. I dont
know if that is typical air force or not, but our
flight crews always looked after the flight nurses.
The nurses looked after the enlisted, so we really
always traveled as a group. I never really had to
worry when I was traveling with a crew. Most of
them were just great people. They always looked
out for the nurses because they really understood
what kind of work the crews in the back were
doing. I also learned that some days you have to
wait a long time for things. Sometimes the
weather would ground us, and we’d wait two or
three hours before we could fly. If we ran out of
flying time, we had to wait overnight. I learned
to travel light. The pilots would always say,
“Come on with us to the bar and have a beer.”
We would always answer, “Well, that is really nice.
Could I have a Coke?” You could have all the
beer you wanted to drink for free, but a soft drink
cost a dollar. The crews who were not Mormon
got a charge out of teasing us a lot about our not
drinking, but they always looked out for us.

I met my husband while I was in the air
force. He was in the air force stationed in Califor-
nia. He was a fighter pilot. He says, “My wife
picked me up in Vietnam, and she took care of me
all the way home. That’s how I met her. She was
a flight nurse.” It is a wonderful story, but not
likely. He had graduated from college and had to
join the service, so he chose the air force. He was
full time. He had gone through pilot training
down in Texas and then transferred up to Hamil-
ton Air Force Base in northern California. That
was where my father had retired from the air
force. My husband came to the same ward, and
we met there. He was never injured. He actually
ended up never going to Vietnam, though he did
have orders. After we were married, he had or-
ders, but it was important for the career of some-
one in the air force to go, so other people would
keep stealing his orders. So after we were mar-
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ried, we were sent to Canada. That was really
funny because people who didn’t want to partici-
pate in the war went to Canada. But we were
legitimately going to Canada, to Vancouver Island.

He was responsible for managing the nu-
clear weapons on Vancouver Island. That duty
station was kind of “the eyes” watching Russia,
thinking they might come down through Alaska.
It was kind of the northern front. There were four
young couples sent from Hamilton Air Force
Base to Canada for a year after we were married.
My husband had about a year and a half left be-
fore he was to get out of the service. After we were
married and went to Canada, I didn’t have a unit
I could drill with. I went inactive hoping to find
a unit to drill with in the future. It was too far to
come down to McCord Air Force Base from up in
Canada. I remained inactive and got out of the
reserves in 1973. But I loved it. I wear wings that
I honestly earned myself. I still have my uniforms
at home, flight uniforms and regular uniforms.
When we flew we wore nice long navy blue slacks,
a light blue shirt with an overwaisted shirt, and a
tie. We wore black lace-up shoes and our hat. We
wore our names and our wings on our shirt.
We dressed really quite nicely even though we
were flying. We didn’t wear our skirts or formal
jackets, and we never wore cammies.

My military experience really did change
my life. I found a husband. I had a real appreci-
ation for good assessment skills because so many
times we didn’t have equipment. Your own skills
and knowledge base got you through. I learned a
great deal about teamwork and how to depend
on other people. I learned how to divide the
work up among people and get that work done.
I have a real respect for people who provide
medical care in the middle of nowhere to keep
the patients stable enough to get back to the next
point. The dedication of medical people, flight
crews, and all of those folks interested in getting
all those wounded people back was incredible.
I really appreciated that. The politics of war are
completely different. But I'll always remember
people taking care of the patients and just getting
the job done.



Nursing care in the air was a little scary at
times, but we also gained a sense of confidence
that we could do it. We improvised so many
things and solved little problems. We could sit
and help people through things. We talked to sol-
diers so they weren't terrified of flying. If their
eyes were covered, their sensory perception
would be off. Noises would frighten or startle
them. We appreciated each day as it came be-
cause we didn’t know if it would be our last. We
learned to be thankful for everything that we
had. If we got another day, that was a gift.
Ilearned to deal with one day at a time and when
that was over I would think, “Oh, that’s great. I'll
go on with the next day.” I still do that. When
things are stressful and there is a lot going on, I
can go back to my military experience and say,
“No, this is today. What needs to be done today?
Okay, we have to get through this today.” I even
try to use that with my students at times. In the
newborn ICU when things are real busy, I say,
“Let’s get through this one piece at a time. We'll
deal with this issue now and then we’ll move on
to the next issue.” I have always appreciated
learning that. If I need to focus for the instant, I
can focus and get it done, and then I can move
on. I think that is one of the things I learned
while I was flying for that short time—to be
thankful for the moment.

I think I have a strong testimony, but the
war situation certainly puts your faith into prac-
tice. I learned a new courage. Sometimes we
were out with crews that were not Latter-day
Saints, and they would make fun of us. When I
was a twenty-two-year-old or twenty-three-year-
old woman, it was hard — especially at a time in
history when it was not a woman’s world. I had
to remember who I was and what my values were.
I really appreciated having the opportunity to
determine my values when those around me had
very different ones. I gained a greater under-
standing of faith. We sometimes flew with some
unstable patients, and we had faith to know that
we would be sensitive enough to pick up early
on what was going on and be able to intervene in

The Vietnam War

a situation. I was always grateful when I got to
our destination and got off the plane in one
piece. I think that spiritually I was strengthened
by patients who just had courage and hope.
What were these young people who were miss-
ing an arm or a leg and returning to a sometimes
unfriendly environment going to do with the rest
of their lives? They had girlfriends and wives
who they worried might not accept them. They
thought that if I would sit and talk with them,
maybe their wives and girlfriends would talk to
them. We would talk with some of those patients
who were actually terrified to get back home for
fear that their families would reject them because
of the seriousness of their wounds. They were
great people. I thought that under those circum-
stances, you have to have the courage to really go
on. The battle was not easy once they got home.
They had surgeries and all kinds of things ahead
of them. I learned a lot from other people that
strengthened my spiritual side.

I'had some really great patients who appre-
ciated the little things that we did. We would
bring them water or juice, or look at them and
say, “You know, you look like you really are in
pain. Can I get you something?” At the end of the
flight, I was always grateful to those people who
got off and said, “Thank you for helping us this
far.” They were so appreciative, even though they
were the ones who were in such misery. Air force
nursing was always rewarding. We may have
been tired but generally left a flight feeling like
we had done a good job. We got everybody to the
destination so we could go home and sleep.

Now I am a professor at the Brigham Young
University College of Nursing. What I've learned
with my own students is to have patience and to
believe that we can work through problems. I have
learned to spend time listening to people tell
their stories. I tell students that they need to get
the data correct and look at the history. I explain
to them that it is really hard to plan interventions
or care if you don’t know what is happening to
the person. Those are probably the main things
that I have brought over into teaching.
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y mother had been sickly throughout
i \/ I her life, and I had seen her many times
in the hospital and watched people care
for her. My grandmother had had some hemor-
rhages of the stomach as I was growing up, so I
watched that. I kept thinking, “You know, if I was
a nurse I could take care of them.” When I was
younger, the books I read always dealt with ei-
ther nursing or airline stewardesses, and I had a
librarian that told me one day, “You know, you're
going to go into one of those two fields.” At that
time a stewardess had to have a nursing back-
ground anyway. That was the criteria for being a
stewardess. When you flew, you had to be able to
take care of any emergency that happened in the
air. That got me started, and then afterward,
when my family had their illnesses, I decided
that I wanted to do nursing.

I chose to go to a hospital school of nursing
and not a university program because it was
closer to home and didn’t take as long. The uni-
versity was four years; the hospital school was
three. I would be able to do more hands-on nurs-
ing in the hospital school. I chose St. Mark’s School
of Nursing. And at that time I could live at home
for the first two years. The last year I had to live
down at St. Mark’s on Third West between Sev-
enth and Eighth North. Today it’s on Thirty-ninth
South between Tenth and Thirteenth East. The
hospital was funded and run by the Episcopalian
Church. We had to attend church services on a
regular basis. We had our capping ceremony at
the Episcopal Cathedral. Nurses don’t even wear
caps now. I don’t know how many times over the
years I hit my nursing cap and my hairdo would
be askew, particularly when I was bending over to
care for the patients in traction. The cap could be
a pain at times.

When I first started out at St. Mark’s Hospi-
tal as a student nurse, we had glass syringes. We
would rotate into the central supply, and we had
to check the needles for barbs and the gloves for
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pinholes. We had big jugs of distilled water and
a gas stove, and we would boil all of our syringes
and everything on the stove. Our morphine came
in a tiny, narrow tube that was about a quarter of
an inch in diameter with a corked top. We would
pop the cork and drop the little morphine tablet
into the syringe, draw up the sterile water, shake
it to dissolve it, and then give the injection. We
didnt have prepared medications for a long,
long time. For all my student days, and for the
first two years I started working as a registered
nurse at St. Mark’s hospital, we prepared our own
medication. Gradually more packaged supplies
were used. Then they stopped having student
nurses check the gloves for holes because they
had disposable ones.

After graduation in 1962, I worked in Salt
Lake City at St. Mark’s Hospital for four and a
half years. At first I worked pediatrics. I took the
older kids. I figured that if I took the older kids,



they could tell me what was wrong. I was a begin-
ning nurse then, and I had a lot of fears too.

I took care of a lot of cancer patients.
I'would see them for the initial therapy and then I
would see them back for the chemotherapy. The
only chemotherapy drug that we had in those
days was 5-FU. Then I would see them for the ra-
diation. They got to be my family. It was a ter-
rible responsibility for a young graduate. They
would beg me not to go on my days off. They'd
say, “Nobody can take care of patients like you
can,” and “You can’t go. You have to stay here
and take care of us.” That haunted me when I
went home. And I would worry about them and
wonder, “Is that person after me going to do their
job as good as I was doing it?” I would take these
patients through their final stages. The night nurse
and I knew when our patients were going to die.
I would work seven days and then have two days
off, then work another seven and have four off. It
was a long schedule. I would say to her if I was
approaching my four days off, “Now don't
worry about Mr. or Mrs. so and so. She or he is
going to wait for me, and I'll be there with them
when they go.” That worked for me, and it
worked for the night nurse because she’d tell me
the same. She was LDS, as I was. I think the Lord
knew that those people dying needed somebody
that they knew. That’s the way it went for three
and a half years and I got really burned out.

At that time nobody knew what depression
was and I just kept getting more and more de-
pressed over the patients who were dying. I had
a rose gallery of the dead, and if I was really
tired, I'd see them all night long. I got to the point
where I couldn’t stand that. I didn’t want to go
anywhere. I just wanted to go home and stay
there. I didn't want to go out with my friends.
I didn't want to do anything. My mother said I
was sitting in a rocker one day and she said,
“What’s the matter with you? You're so quiet
these past days.” I said, “I was just sitting here
thinking that the good Lord could take me any-
time. I'm ready to go.” And she said, “What do
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you mean you're ready to go?” I can still hear her.
“You're in your twenties. How can you be ready
to go?” I said, “I am. I'm ready to go. He can take
me with whatever disease He wants. I'm ready to
go.” My mother sat down with me, and she said,
“You know, you have got to get out of that ward.
You've got to do something different. I don’t care
what you do, but you've got to get away from
those patients.” And I said, “They’re the only pa-
tients that I know, and I would come in contact
with that if I worked any other floor in nursing.”
She said, “Well maybe you need to do something
different. Maybe you need to go back to pedi-
atrics.” I said, “No, pediatrics is not my interest.
I don't want to do that.”

About that time [ was receiving information
from the air force. The Vietnam War was going
on, and the military needed nurses. The air force
was requesting nurses, and they asked if I would
like to be a part of that. I quietly thought about it
and the more I thought about it, the more I
thought that it would be a nice place for me to go.
I talked with Mom about it. My mother said, “I
think that’s a very good idea.” And so I went,
without telling my father, and took the oath of
office to be a nurse in the air force.

My father and I had talked about the mili-
tary. He was a sergeant in the army, and he
would never take a higher rank. He said, “No,
I've had enough of the service. I don’t want to
have anymore.” So, anyway, he was very set on
things concerning the service. I knew his thoughts
on the service. He had once said to me, “Well,
Phyllis, you'd never make it in the service be-
cause you have too much of a temper. You can't
have a temper and go in the service.” When my
father heard I had joined the air force, he blew
his cool. Later he calmed down.

It was a toss-up between the air force and
the navy. I liked both of them. But I kept think-
ing, “I have claustrophobia.” In the navy, if you
ever had to get off of the hospital ship, your best
chances probably would be in a submarine. I kept
thinking, “They’d never get me in a submarine.
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I'd never be able to do nursing in a submarine be-
cause I'd be too claustrophobic. They’d have to
sedate me as one of the patients.” I decided that
I'would go into the air force, so that’s what I did.
I was sent to Mountain Home Air Force Base in
Mountain Home, Idaho. My dad finally calmed
down. He finally accepted the fact that I was in
the service. When we went through basic train-
ing in Texas, they had a big celebration for us
when graduation came.

Mountain Home was out in the desert.
There wasn't a lot to do. The town of Mountain
Home had two sidewalks and that was it. It wasn't
very big. We were ten miles outside of town, and
we had desert all around us. It was a Strategic Air
Command (SAC) base. Later it was changed to a
tactical command.

I worked four and a half months there, and
then they told me that I had orders for the Philip-
pines. I said, “How can I have orders for the
Philippines when I haven’t been here long
enough?” Usually you have to be in active duty
for at least two years before you get any change
of destination. There was a Filipino nurse at
Mountain Home who had orders for England.
She came to me one day and said, “Phyllis, I'd
like to go home. Would you trade with me and
go to England, and I'll go to the Pacific area be-
cause that’s my home.” I said, “Oh sure, I'll do
my mother’s genealogy there.” We were English,
Irish, Welsh, and Scottish, and I thought, “No
problem, I'll go there.” The Air Force said, “Ab-
solutely not.” So she went to the cold water fleet
in England and I went to the PAC (Pacific Air
Command) area, which is where I served the re-
mainder of my time.

I was put on a surgical floor that took all the
head injury cases. They would air-evac them out
of Nam. They would do enough surgery on the
injured in Vietnam to stabilize them and then
ship them to us or to Japan. We were the two
areas that took care of them if they had to do fur-
ther reconstructive surgery. If they were not able
to go back into active duty after that, they would
be sent home. Otherwise they would go back to
active duty. That was a sad thing.
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I had patients that had leg wounds or arm
wounds or different things like that. We would
get them sutured and care for them until their
sutures were out. As soon as they were able to
use their arm or leg, they were sent back into the
war zone. I don’t know how many patients I had
that begged me to intercede for them so that
they didn’t have to go back. I had to tell them
that I didn’t have any pull and that there was
nothing that I could do. Even the doctors were
under orders to send them back if they were
capable of fighting another day. That was a sad
time for me. I didn’t ever see any come back; I'd
see them once and that was it. That’s not to say
that they didn’t come back to the hospital.

There was a ward opposite ours on the same
floor that was a mirror image of ours. Everything
was the same, except they took all the spinal in-
jury cases and we took all of the burn patients. It
didnt matter who was admitting that day, we
took the head injury cases, and they took the
spinal injury cases. The rest of the patients were
alternated, depending on whose day it was for
admissions.

Since the Koreans were our allies in the war,
we also took care of them. We had flip charts to
help us speak Korean, and we would speak
to them in one syllable or in pantomime. If we
wanted them to scrub a certain area, we would
pantomime to them to do that. I think that they
were probably like our men. If they got well,
they were probably sent back out into the war
zone. | remember that they were fun-loving. One
day we’d had two of them come off the plane.
They had head injuries, and one had a plate put
in his head. The old hospital beds were really
high, and you couldn’t raise or lower them. One
patient was hopping from his bed to his friend’s
bed next door, and there was a four-foot space
between them. He gave me heart failure. They
were having the time of their life, and two other
patients were egging them on. I thought, “If you
miss that spot and go down and hit your head,
then where would we be?” I really chewed them
out with facial expressions and hand signals.



They were put out, and they sat there, dumpy-
like, looking like they were thinking, “Well, I
know I'm in the wrong.”

When I began nursing and when I got to the
Philippines, they were still using silver nitrate on
burn patients. It was messy. We would soak the
bandages in it and then wrap the burns. I was
taking care of three or four patients. I had a
corpsman working with me, and he wasn't pay-
ing any attention. It was really hard at that time
to get American clothes in my size, and I am five
feet five and a half inches. I weighed 165 pounds
at that time. I didn’t fit into a size 4 shoe, and I
didn't fit into a size 28 slip. There I was, dipping
and rolling those bandages, and this corpsman
wasn’t watching what he was doing. He tipped
the basin, and the silver nitrate poured right
down the side of me. When light hits silver nitrate,
it turns black. My shoes, my hose, my uniform,
and my unmentionables all turned black. It doesn’t
come out. I was so mad at him.

Then a short while after that happened, we
started using the Silvadene cream. It was all right
except that you had to wipe it all off of the burns,
and you had to put it on twice a day. Wiping it off
was painful. If they had a third-degree burn, they
wouldn't feel it, but if they had a second- or a
first-degree burn, it was painful to have you
wipe that off. They would beg us not to, and it
made us feel terrible. By the time I finished my
tour, we didn’t have to wipe it off. We still had to
put it on twice a day, but it was a lot easier on the
burn patients.

They usually moved nurses around, but I
stayed in surgery that entire time. Taking care of
these soldiers wasn't quite as bad as taking care
of the cancer patients. We would keep them long
enough to get them stable so that they could either
go back home or back to the war zone. I didn't
become as attached to them as I had to the cancer
patients. Yet we had good times with those pa-
tients too. I remember playing games, like check-
ers, that didn't take an awful long time. Those
boys really needed that too. There were times
when we didn’t have as many casualties, and we
had a little bit more time to do that.
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While I was in the Philippines, we had some
earthquakes. That was something. I had corps-
man who had never been around earthquakes.
They had been in tornadoes and hurricanes, but
they had never been in earthquakes. We had
been having small earthquakes all along. I kept
telling the people who worked with me, “We're
having small earthquakes.” “Oh, no, no, no—it’s
the aircraft going over.” They just kept pooh-
poohing it. But one day I was suctioning a pa-
tient, and I was having a hard time getting the
suction catheter out. I couldn’t figure out why.
I'looked up and saw that the IV bottle was swing-
ing. I knew then that we were probably having
an earthquake. I let my hand drop, and the
catheter came out.

The earthquakes went on and off for about
a month. One night I was working the midnight
shift, and there was one that measured seven on
the Richter scale. It hit more in Manila than
where we were. My corpsmen had never been in
an earthquake, and they didn’t know what to do.
They were standing out in the corridor, and their
eyes were as big as saucers. I said, “You have got
to get yourselves into the doorway. Stand in the
doorway. That’s where you're going to be safe.”
So that’s what they did. Then I remembered that
we had a patient in a circle electric bed in the
room opposite of me. The top piece wasn’t even
tucked into its cradle; it was just up against the
wall. I realized it was going to start flying and
hurt the men. I thought that if I could get in there
and stand in the center of the room, I could
deflect whatever was going to fly around. I was
trying to inch myself in there. It wasn’t working
very well because the earth was rolling. I only
inched my way part way into the room. But I
know that the Lord blessed us. The beds rattled
and shook but none of those pieces flew any-
where. The patients’ beds in the other rooms
would move forward and backward, almost
touching each other, and then roll back. The circle
electric beds never moved.

At the time we had glass IV bottles, and we
stored them on high metal racks. We had to use a
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stool to put the bottles on the top shelf. We
would send a corpsman down with a grocery
cart, to get his supplies. The quake knocked some
of the bottles down into the grocery cart, but not
one broke. It rolled other bottles to the edge, but
didn’t knock them off. We had a big cylinder oxy-
gen tank in the storage room with a file cabinet.
It picked up the oxygen tank, tipped over the
cabinet, and laid the oxygen tank over the cabi-
net instead of turning it into a missile or causing
it to explode.

The quake made cracks along the base-
board. The corpsmen who ran out onto the lawn
said the top half of the hospital was going in the
opposite direction from the bottom. It looked like
a zigzag. We had a one-thousand-pound air con-
ditioning unit right above us. I kept waiting for
all this equipment to come crashing down and
kill us all, but it never did.

We had a nurse from Hawaii who disap-
peared during the earthquake. Later, after I
checked everyone out and made sure they were
okay, I said to several of the corpsmen, “Where is
so-and-so?” “Well, I don’t know.” She had folded
herself up into a corner under the nurse’s station.
She was so small and was so flat in there, we
didn't even see her as we walked around. She
came out after a while. She probably did it out of
fear and figured that it was the safest place.

The telephone was something else, too. The
telephone was set up through the radio opera-
tors. If we put in a long distance call to the States,
we would get a United States operator. We
would be talking along and then we would say
“over,” and then our parents, or whoever we
were calling, would come on. They’d talk, and
then they’d say “over.” The operator would say,
“Now, you realize that you are going through the
radio operators, and you have to say ‘over’ so we
make sure that we cut it to the other person.”
They would rotate it back and forth, so you never
knew who else was listening on the telephone.
That’s what we went through when I first got to
the Philippines. Gradually I just put through my
own calls. My friend was a captain. She would
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pay a lot of her own money for some of the men
to make telephone calls to their people, especially
those that she knew were never going to get
home. I really admired her for that. If there is a
place for another angel she would be there.

The Vietnam War was an undeclared war.
That is my biggest complaint against the govern-
ment. Those men fought and bled and died there,
and they were never recognized. The First World
War and the Second World War were different
from the Vietnam War. The Vietnamese had
women and children that fought right along with
the men. They had children who carried bombs
and blew people up. They had young girls that
claimed to need assistance. The soldiers would
go to help them, and they would be blown up.
Our men had to worry about pongee sticks,
which were six-inch-long bamboo spikes that
were guide-wired up into the trees. When the
soldiers stepped on the wire, the pongee stick
would come down and spear them. The Viet-
namese would put feces on the pongee sticks,
and our men would immediately get a serious
infection. It was hot and humid, and bacteria
would grow very quickly. Some of these men, es-
pecially the ones that got liver wounds from the
pongee sticks, never really got better. There were
many of them who died. They would get better,
and then they would get worse, and then finally
they would die. I didn’t work with those patients
that had liver wounds, but my friend did. She
would tell me about the boys. Most of the time
they didn’t make it.

It was sad for the men who were in battle.
I knew some of the men from our unit at Moun-
tain Home. Two were killed in a battle at an
apartment complex. War is a terrible thing. When
you join, you have to go where they send you.
We were involved in the Tet Offensive. We
worked twelve-hour shifts for several months at
a time. We would have a full complement of pa-
tients, and we knew we were going to get more
from the air-evac system. We went in at midnight
and started to triage patients to make room for
the ones who were coming. We put them onto



stretchers and laid them all out in the aisle on the
first floor. We put flight tags on them with infor-
mation about their injuries. As soon as possible,
they were moved out to the United States or back
to duty, if they were able to go back to duty. I can
remember having to pass medications, and my
patients were scattered all over the place. [ had to
go down with a flashlight to administer medica-
tions at two and five in the morning. I would be
looking at flight tags, praying that it was the right
patient with the right name. Doctors had scrawled
names and moved patients in such a hurry that I
was afraid I would make a mistake. We no sooner
got those patients out than we got the beds
scrubbed for the incoming patients.

If patients were well enough they would do
their own beds, but we didn’t have janitors. We
worked right alongside the corpsmen. I learned
that patients who were active got healthier a lot
faster. I think that is why health-care providers
decided to get patients up and walking the day
after their surgery. I know that came from the
service. We didn’t have patients with deep vein
thrombosis. They didn’t have pneumonia. They
were up and walking the floors. It was the same
when I got home and went back to work at the
VA Hospital. They would say, “I'm too sick,” and
I would say, “I'm sorry, but this is going to help
you get well.”

I think that my military experience made
me more aware of how precious life is. It could
be snuffed out at any moment. We treated what
we had more lovingly. You figured the good
Lord blessed this land. He put all the beauty in it
and He put us here, and now it is up to us to take
care of it. I never got over the fact of seeing Him.
I see the Lord in so much. I see His handiwork in
so much around me. I used to come out of the
hospital in the Philippines when we had worked
so hard and kept the patients alive through our
shift, and I would pray that the good Lord would
bless and guide them and that they would be
able to make it back home, that they would live
long enough to get home. I think when you are in
situations like that, you see His hand in so many,
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many things. I saw His hand in saving patients
that I didn’t think were going to be saved.

There was a small Latter-day Saint group
on base in the Philippines. I had been inactive at
home before joining the air force. It had been
hard to stay active because I worked shifts and
weekends as a student and as a registered nurse.
I couldn’t get off to go to church. You don't say to
sick patients, “I'm sorry, I've got to go to church.”
If you did that you wouldn’t have a job. Besides,
my conscience wouldn’t have let me do that. I just
got away from church. When I went in the mili-
tary, I didn't attend either. I did attend the group
on base a couple of times. They just had the
sacrament. I still believed in the Lord and I still
followed His teachings. I knew the Lord existed
and heard my prayers; otherwise, a lot of people
could have been hurt or killed during that earth-
quake. I knew the Lord guided and directed me.
I think my military experience strengthened my
testimony and helped me return to activity.

One reason I became inactive was that
when I cared for the cancer patients, I saw a child
with cancer come into the hospital. I used to pray
that the Lord would take me instead of the child,
but the Lord wasn’t ready for me and He would
take the child instead. Consequently, I was upset
with the Lord and wanted to have no part of
Him. But, you know, the Lord lets you have a lot
of running room, and then He starts reeling you
back in. I began to realize that I wasn't seeing the
whole pie. When I finally started reasoning that
way, when I came to that realization, I began to
understand that the child didn’t need all the time
I did. He didn’t need to spend all the time in the
school of hard knocks that I did. All the child
needed was that many years, and then he could
return to Father in Heaven, where he didn’t have
to worry about all the stuff I had to worry about.
So I came back to the Lord and realized I just
didn’t know all those things. It wasn’t luck that
brought me back. It was because the good Lord
put me in a place to help me realize I needed to
come back. I think all of my experiences have
brought me to the Lord and kept me there. You
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see all kinds of things in nursing—good things,
sad things, terrible things. However, you realize
that it is part of life, and you grow by those
things that make you the strongest and make you
better able to know the Lord. The Lord didn’t
promise us a rose garden without thorns. I have
had experiences where I know that He is real,
that He is alive.

JAY NIELSEN

en I graduated from high school in
1969, I decided I would volunteer for
Vietnam. Two days after graduation, I
volunteered for the army. I actually counted as
being drafted, so, in October I was drafted into
the army for two years. On October 8 the group I
was drafted with met up in Salt Lake City and
found out they would be sending us to Fort
Lewis, Washington. I spent two months at Fort
Lewis in basic training as a private E1. When you
graduate from basic training, you go to specialist
training. Out of seventy-five soldiers, two of us
were picked to go to medic training.

In early December, I went to Fort Sam
Houston in San Antonio where I spent three
months being trained as a medic. When I fin-
ished my training, I was assigned to the hospital
in Fort Leonard Wood, Missouri. Orders came
down sending half of my training group to Viet-
nam. The post commander rejected the orders
because we didn’t have enough people working
in the hospital as it was. We were getting Viet-
nam casualties and taking care of the veterans in
Missouri. When they sent the second order,
everyone that wasn't on the first order was on the
second order to Vietnam. After joking and laugh-
ing and making fun of my friend who was on the
first order, I was on the second order. The first
order got to stay home, and everyone on the sec-
ond order was going to Vietnam. They promised
me that I would be assigned to the hospital in
DaNang and that we didn’t have to worry.

I came home for a month and on January 4,
1971, 1 left to go to Oakland, California. From
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Oakland, I was shipped to Vietnam. After arriv-
ing in Vietnam, I was assigned not to a hospital
but to the First Cavalry Division, the First and
Twelfth Division Infantry. I would be going into
the jungle and riding in helicopters and shooting
at people. I ended up just going around in heli-
copters and being dropped off in the jungle.

We received our first assignment on Febru-
ary 15. Six helicopters placed twenty-seven men
ten to twelve miles deep into the jungle. They
told us they would be back to pick us up in about
twenty days. The stated mission was to find the
enemy and kill them. On the way to the destina-
tion, the helicopter was shot at by an AK-47. It
made an odd sound. I asked what it was and was
told it was an AK-47. That was what the bad guys
shot. We hiked around in the jungle and looked
for the bad guys. It was in the Tainen Province in
the highlands of Vietnam. It is very dense, beauti-
ful jungle. We burnt down a village. I thought that
was kind of a waste of a beautiful village.

We had a couple of incidents of shooting
people, nothing major, but the experience, as far
as being a Latter-day Saint in Vietnam, struck
home. On March 3, we started hiking along this
trail. It was late in the morning and we came to a
fork in the trail that was fairly heavily used. As
the medic, I would always walk about fifth in
line, after the point man, the lieutenant, the man
with machine gun, and the man with the radio.
I always wanted to be close to the men so that if
someone was shot, I could see what was happen-
ing. Suddenly there was all this screaming and
gunshots. The sound of screaming and M-16s
just exploded. I never heard such noise and hol-
lering in my life.

What had happened was that our point man
had walked around a curve in the trail, and com-
ing up the other side of the trail was the enemy.
So the point man knelt down and shot the bad
guy right in the chest. The screaming came from
the guy that was hit. He was Viet Cong. We se-
cured the area and went up to the body. My
really good friend was there. There was four of
us there looking at the body. The dead man had



a hole right in the middle of his chest, and when
we turned him over we saw he had quite a large
hole in his back. He was lying there, and my
friend from New York was going to do some
things with the body that I didn’t think should be
done. He got his knife out and was going to cut
some things off, ears and things. I was really new
in the platoon, but I asked him not to do it. I just
really didn’t think that was appropriate. So he
didn’t do it. He did take a big stake and put our
patch on it and put the stake right in the hole in
his chest. That didn’'t bother me. He already had
the hole in his chest.

The rest of the day was pretty quiet. We saw
another Viet Cong and we shot, but we missed.
There were a few shots at us from a distance. We
heard an AK-47. I was barely twenty years old
when this happened, and it really bothered me,
all the screaming and the blood and the gore.
I thought, “This isn’t what I pictured this to be
like.” This was something that was going to be
very difficult for me. I had never shot a gun be-
fore I went to Vietnam. I had never killed anything.
I don't even believe in deer hunting, so it was
really hard for me. I just couldn’t get this thing
out of my mind. It was really hard for me.

The helicopter came the next day to pick us
up and take us back to the fire base. It was the
twentieth day. I remember distinctly riding the
helicopter back when all the emotion hit me.
I was turned away from everybody, but I remem-
ber that I had big tears streaming down my face.
I thought, “Jay, this is not what you thought it
was going to be.” I was really having a hard time
with the killing and the other stuff that was going
with it. We landed on the fire base. The tears had
stopped, but I thought, “I have ten months of
this, and I just don’t know how this is going to
go.” As I was walking toward the bunker, this
man stopped me. He said, “Are you Jay Nielsen?”
He said, “My name is Joe Hansen, and I am from
Logan, Utah. Jay, I would really like to have a
sacrament meeting tonight. I have another per-
son from Utah. Why don’t you come to my bunker
tonight.” It was Sunday.
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I showed up. We had this stale bread and
some water, and we had the sacrament meeting,
and basically the sacrament meeting was exactly
what I needed to make it. There was only us
three at this meeting. There was no moon; it was
pitch black. The best way that I can describe it is
to say that there was a presence in that bunker
that I cannot deny. There were more than the
three of us in that bunker. There was a feeling
that I have even to this day. So, as far as a mem-
ber of the Church in Vietnam, that was a very
powerful meeting and it was just what I needed.
I'was really happy that Joe did that for me. I think
he was inspired to look me up and have me come
to the meeting.

As far as the rest of my tour in Vietnam, it
went similar to that. We would get dropped off,
and we would look for the bad people. Sometimes
we would shoot at them. Sometimes we would
hear an AK-47. For the next few months, it was
just kind of like that.

On the 22nd, my two best friends in Viet-
nam were killed. They were Jerry Davis and Ken
Austin. They were really dear friends to me. We
were all about the same age. Ken and I were the
youngest in the platoon, and Ken was a month
younger than me. The thing that struck me with
Ken Austin was that he was supposed to be
going home in three months. He got engaged to
his girlfriend. Her name was Roxanne, and she
was from Washington. He was going to get mar-
ried the first week he got home. They even had
the wedding date. I saw Roxanne in her wedding
dress. That was sad. It was the wedding dress she
never got to wear for my friend.

Jerry Davis was from Michigan, and he had
a twin sister. I saw a picture of his twin, and she
looked like Jerry. Sometimes I think how incred-
ibly difficult that must have been for his twin.
Sometimes I think that she probably knew be-
fore. They were very close. I thought that was
very sad.

The next month was one that I would never
forget a moment of for the rest of my life. It started
on August 27, and it ended about fourteen days
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later. That was a bad time for me and our pla-
toon. We were in a very active area. There was a
lot of the North Vietnamese army in this area.
Again it was the Tainen area. There was a lot of
war things going on, a lot of action, a lot of hit
and miss type things. On August 27 we were
walking down a trail and up a hill to set our
night position. All of a sudden, the jungle opened
up with noise. I have never heard so much noise
and shooting and screaming. It was like the en-
tire jungle just exploded. We were walking up
the one mountain and on the other mountain di-
rectly across from us there were about six North
Vietnamese army regulars. Another of our pla-
toons was walking up that mountain, but we didn’t
know they were there. When the Vietnamese
started shooting at them, we started shooting
at them also. Nobody knew who was shooting at
who. There were bullets everywhere. I started
hearing a call for “medic” from the other moun-
tain. I ran down our mountain about fifty yards
and then up the other mountain because I was
hearing this call for “medic.” I came to some peo-
ple I was able to help a little.  bandaged up some
shrapnel. With the help of the radio, we realized
we were shooting at each other. We all should
have been shooting at the bad guys. The bad
guys had shot probably three to four hundred
rounds and thrown about twenty grenades be-
tween us and the people that were climbing up
their hill. Our platoon didn’t have any wounded,
but the other platoon had about five wounded
that we were able to medevac.

The next morning they said we would be
climbing up the mountain again. We combined
platoons and as two platoons, we would climb
up the mountain. There was supposed to be a big
complex on the top of the mountain. When we
got to the top, it was a beautiful village that could
probably have fit about a thousand people. It had
hutches and a school. So we went in and were
kind of sitting there thinking “this is okay.” We
were setting out our perimeters. Again the entire
jungle had just exploded. What had happened
was that these six soldiers had climbed up and
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got on our outskirts and started shooting. They
shot about 375 rounds, and they shot about five
grenades into the complex. They hit about seven
of our soldiers. Our machine gunner had shrap-
nel all up and down his back. I was able to take
care of him.

Our lieutenant basically had half of his face
shot off. While the shooting was going on, I was
actually able to reach him. I pulled him out from
where he was. He had a really small shrapnel or
bullet hole in his right chest area. I took care of
another soldiers and then came back to the lieu-
tenant, and he was just awful. He was in deep
shock. He was obviously dying in front of me.
I had never had an experience that serious be-
fore. The enemy guy was dead when I got there,
and I had seen dead soldiers, but none dying in
front of me quite like that. The machine gunner
was going into shock, but I was able to raise his
feet and got him comfortable. He was okay. That
wasn't going to kill him. The guy was hit in the
arm. I just put a dressing on it and he was fine.
The lieutenant was something else. I realized
something was really wrong. I knew that his face
could not be causing this. I thought something was
real goofy. I rolled him over to see what else
was wrong. Beneath him was an enormous
amount of blood that had come out of his back.
I realized I had to get the blood to his brain.

I elevated his legs to get some blood to his
head, put a dressing on his chest, and stopped
the bleeding. We called for a medevac helicopter
as soon as we started getting shot at. He was
there probably for about ten or fifteen minutes.
The helicopter came and we got him evacuated,
and he got to the hospital and he actually lived.
He had lost his jaw; it had just been shattered. He
had taken the shrapnel right in his face. I'm sure
he had a lot of work done on just that. I was
happy that he was saved. I have never seen him
since. The funny part is that we hated each other
and he never did thank me. He doesn’t even
know what happened because he was in shock.
He doesn’t know what I did or what I had to do.
It was really quite an interesting medical move



that I did. If I elevated his legs, then his jaw was
gonna bleed more, but if I didn’t elevate his legs,
then he wasn’t going to get any blood to his
brain. If I elevated his legs, his chest wound
would bleed more. Finally, I got some packs, and
I laid him on his side so his chest was up in the
air, and I put him on the hill with his head facing
downward, and I was able to get his legs up. The
color came back to him a little, enough that it
worked. That is what saved him. If I couldn’t
have got his legs up he would have died. He was
about 80 percent gone when I got to him.

From this point, we secured the area and
went to a night perimeter. The next day they had
another platoon go into this area. They wanted to
blow up this complex, but another platoon went
up there, and the same thing happened. Their
sergeant was shot in the head. It killed him in-
stantly. They had two other people who were
wounded very severely. They got those guys out
of there.

The colonel was so mad at us. He wanted
eight people to go up there the next day and
blow up that place, and it was coming from our
platoon. We had to get eight volunteers to go in
there, so you can imagine how it was to volun-
teer for that. The next morning I volunteered as
one of the eight. Eight of us went up that moun-
tain again and into the complex. I was so mad at
those North Vietnamese by this time; I was hop-
ing they would show up. We went up and secured
the area. If they would have come up, it would
have been just fine; we were all so angry. So we
got all the stuff placed, and we blew up the com-
plex. We blew it up very nicely.

Three days later, we set up a perimeter.
That morning we sent out a patrol, and I went
with the patrol. We were walking into this area,
up into this complex, another liveable place for
the North Vietnamese, and these six soldiers
walked right into where we were. We took cover
in the rocks and killed two of them instantly. The
third guy we shot up so bad that he left a blood
trail, so we figured we killed three of the six. The
man that we killed was the sergeant major of
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these six. He was married and had three chil-
dren. I saw a picture of his wife in a photo in his
wallet. She was beautiful. I felt bad for his wife
and those three children. It'’s the war thing. He
was not just a number to me; he became a person.
That was kind of sad. He was just like the rest of
us. He was there trying to do a job, like the rest
of us. Now his wife wouldn’t be seeing him again.
We secured the area about an hour later. A Viet
Cong walked right into our complex, and he was
shot and killed. He had all this medical stuff on
him. We suspected he was a doctor coming to
meet the other six.

Then the scariest moment of my life hap-
pened. We were in a rock complex. I didn’t want
to get into the rocks, so I was behind a tree and
was the forward most person. I was about twenty
yards in front of anybody, me and John Uloa. We
were on the bottom of a hill. John kept whistling
and we kept getting an answer from the other
side of the hill, so we knew there were bad guys
on the other side of the hill. That was about as
scary as anything I had ever seen in my life. We
thought they would come over the hill and try to
kill us. That was what I was preparing for. I was
actually preparing to die because I knew there
were only eight of us. John kept whistling and I
kept telling him to shut up because he was mak-
ing me so scared. I was behind a tree and the next
thing I knew, there was the biggest explosion I
have ever seen in my life. The only thing that was
standing was my tree. All the limbs were off. All
the leaves were off. I was behind it and that was
all that was left. Our lieutenant had called in a
Cobra gun ship. They popped a flare, and he shot
at the flare, and it was right in front of my tree.
He lobbed about three or four missiles right in
front of my tree. We knew that basically we were
kind of surrounded. The Cobras hovered over
our head the entire way back to our platoon.
There were obviously bad people there who
wanted to do us bodily harm, but the Cobras got
us back.

Two weeks later, on this major trail, we
were setting a night ambush. There were four of
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us who left our night patrol and walked about
one hundred yards to set up a night ambush. We
were just going to set up grenades with the trip
wires. There was a fork in the road. As those
guys were setting up the ambush, I went up
about twenty yards from them. I was looking
down the one road, and I heard a sound directly
behind me. I looked and it was a bad guy. I hit
the dirt and I couldn’t have crawled any faster.
I was on the trail and there were all these other
guys behind him. I thought, “If I start shooting,
all his guys are going to come up and there are
only four of us and they are going to kill us.” I sat
there for about ten minutes, and then I got up
and left, and then he jumped up and went off the
other way.

A similar thing happened about a week
after this. About ten of us had seen a soldier and
shot at him. Later we saw another soldier, and we
shot at him. We decided to do a night ambush
and we walked down this trail and I was the last
person in line. I was walking and I heard a click
in the jungle itself. It was a Viet Cong who had
taken his AK-47 off safety. It makes a click and I
had heard it and I thought, “I'm a dead man.
That’s it.” I think he was waiting to see what I
was going to do. He didn’t do anything and I cer-
tainly wasn't going to do anything and we walked
by. And that was about the end of my tour.

On October 2, they got me out of the jungle
and sent me home. They had forgotten about me
in the jungle. They were suppose to get me out a
month before. If they hadn't forgotten me I could
have avoided a lot of this. I knew when I was
suppose to leave.

I didn't struggle when I got home. When I
left to go to Vietnam, I kind of had a feeling that
I wouldn’t be coming home. I kind of had an idea
that I would be killed there. You have guilt feel-
ings because you came home and they stayed.
I was so close to my platoon. I really tried to take
care of them. That is why I went on every patrol
and ambush. I became so attached to them, and
if something would have happened to them I just
kind of wanted to be there. So I felt kind of guilty
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coming home. I came home and was a meter
reader for nine months, and then I came to the VA
to work. I was not particularly active in the
Church before I went to Vietnam. The profound
effect of that sacrament meeting in Vietnam is the
basis of my entire testimony. I have experienced
something that I can’t deny. I think the presence
made me feel that I wasn’t alone. I never had
the feeling that I couldn’t be killed. It was just the
feeling that I wasn’t alone. The whole time I was
there I really had that presence. For all the bad
things that were happening, there was a little bit
of sanity. It was very comforting. There were a
few times that I thought, “this is it.” When I was
behind that tree, I was sure that I would not leave
that tree alive. I was positive that the bad guys
were going to come over that hill and kill us. We
had killed their friends, and they were going to
be mad at us. I was happily surprised that I made
it home alive. I was guilty and sad that I was
leaving, but I was very happy to be leaving all in
one piece. I handled the horror of my time in the
service because I was twenty years old and had
nothing to lose.

When the shooting started, I never got in a
hole. I was never officially wounded, but when I
ran up that hill where the two sides were shooting
at each other, I had a boot full of blood, totally full
of blood. I don’t know what happened. It didn’t
make any sense because I had no wound. I still
don’t know what happened. I took off the boot and
actually poured the blood out, just like pouring
out a canteen, and there was no wound.

One night was really scary. I was in my tent,
and all of a sudden there were bullets everywhere.
I got on the ground and crawled up to where the
shooting was. That's just the way it was. I figured
if I got killed, nobody was at home that was
going to worry about it anyway. I wanted to be
a good soldier. When things happened, I kind
of went to where it was happening. They kind of
joked with me that as a medic I did more shoot-
ing than anyone else. When there was shooting, I
was there to take care of them, but I kind of
wanted to kill somebody. That was something I



had to resolve when I got home. I was there, and
I did what I was supposed to do. For that I felt
like I was a success.

I got involved in the Church as soon as I got
home. It was really a good feeling to come home
and go to church.

A lot of stories told by people are just sto-
ries; they’re make-believe. I could sit here and tell
you a lot of things, but these kind of verify that
what I am telling you is true. I could have played
college basketball. I had scholarships from Port-
land. To play college basketball would have been
a great opportunity, but I would not have turned
down my year in Vietnam for anything. I am so
thankful that I was able to go; I really am. What
an experience! The Church helped.

I was my mother’s baby, and she said she
watched the news every night to see if she could
see me. I wrote my brother and told him to tell
my mother that I was working in a hospital and
that I was fine and that nothing could happen.
She never believed it. I sent her this picture
showing her where I was in BenHua where I was
based out of. On the back of the paper it said,
“Seven soldiers killed in ambush.” That was on
the back of the paper I sent her. She said she cried
herself to sleep most nights.

Jay won an Air Medal from the First Cavalry Action
for flying more than sixty air missions. Jay also won
the Bronze Star for saving the lieutenant’s life in the
firefight. He also told me that what meant more to him
than the medal was the wonderful letter his lieutenant
wrote about him when he nominated him for the
Bronze Star. On a personal note, I have known Jay for
thirty years. When I first met him, he was working as a
nurse’s aid at the VA Hospital in Salt Lake City. I was
a young nurse and I had no knowledge or appreciation
for what Jay had been through prior to coming to work
at the VA. As far as I knew he was just a nurse’s aid.
We've both grown up. Jay has grown into a mature
man who makes wise decisions, who has married a
wonderful woman and raised five fine children, one of
which, his son, is currently on a mission in Australia.
I am proud to know Jay and am grateful that we are
friends. — Patricia Rushton
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VALAINE PACK

always wanted to go into nursing. There was
Ino specific point or incident that happened

or anything of that sort. My grandmother on
my mother’s side was a lay midwife, and I used
to be fascinated with the stories my mother
would tell about her experiences, driving her
surrey to different places in Idaho when we lived
up there. And Mother always wanted to be a
nurse, but she didn’t have the opportunity when
she was younger. My mother graduated at the
age of fifty-five from the LPN program and
worked until she was seventy-three, when she
had her first stroke. She and I were both in school
at the same time. When the navy sent me back to
school in 1959, she was working full-time at the
old Salt Lake County General Hospital.

When I decided to go into nursing, I de-
cided to go to University of Utah. I started as a
freshman in 1954. I failed chemistry, went to Ore-
gon State College that next summer and took
nine months of chemistry in eight weeks, passed
it, and came back. I got a D in anatomy. That
made me mad because it threw my grade point
average down. So I decided to go back to campus
and get my general education done and then

VaLaine Pack
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concentrate on the nursing stuff. In the meantime
my health started to deteriorate because I was
working thirty hours a week and going to school
full time. I heard about the navy’s program
where they would select an unenlisted woman
and send her to school if she could meet the re-
quirements. I belonged at that time to the Navy
Medical Reserve Unit Fort Douglas.

My whole goal was to be qualified for the
NENEP. This was the Navy Enlisted Nursing
Education Program. It was begun in 1955. If an
enlisted woman could qualify and get through
the application process, the navy would send her
to a four-year school of nursing. It was only for
women because at that time the navy didn't ac-
cept male nurses. The NENEP Program accepted
men in 1965. The army was first, then the air force,
and then the navy. The guys had a hard time the
first couple of years. There were a lot of the old
lieutenant commanders that just didn’t like this
idea, and they gave them a hard time.

I was one of three women selected for the
program. I came back to the University of Utah
as a sophomore in 1959. I graduated in 1962 and
got my commission. Then I went through Officer
Indoctrination in Newport, Rhode Island. Phila-
delphia Naval Hospital was my first assignment.
The Korean War was over. Vietnam was getting
started, but it didn’t have any prominence yet.
This was 1964. We were sending people there; we
just didn’t know it yet. There were two hospital
ships: the Sanctuary and the Repose.

My first assignment was to work the ortho-
pedic wards for six weeks—3A and 3B. The chief
nurse wanted to do an experiment with me. They
were just organizing the intensive care unit on
3C as a recovery room intensive care unit. It was
the first intensive care unit at Philly. They were
getting it organized, and they didn’t have any
junior officers there at all. They started with lieu-
tenants and went up. The chief nurse decided she
wanted to put me there since I'd been in the navy
for five years.

When I was in the intensive care unit, we
were using the old “green bird” respirator. We

186

didn't have the fancy chest suction units that
they have nowadays. We used the bottles. If we
had two or three chest patients on them at one
time, all of us nurses and corpsmen got to the
point where we could tell which “blub blub” be-
longed to which patient. Everything was in the
bottles. Blood products were in bottles. We were
just starting to use disposable needles and dis-
posable syringes. We had been using glass ones
up until that time. We had to mix the medica-
tions. Codeine and morphine came in tiny pills
that we put into the little glass tube. It was ter-
rible if we dropped one of those glass tubes on
the floor and it broke all over the place. We
would carefully put the tube out on a sterile sur-
face and then remove the glass plunger from the
glass syringe, which we had already filled with
saline, and add the pill. We shook the medication
until it dissolved and then administered it. We
learned that in nursing school. The saline was
sterile. It came in 20-cc vials. It was supplied by
Abbott Laboratories.

The main difference between then and now
was that we just didn't have all the technology
that we have now. We didn’t have monitors or
oxygen on the wall; it was all in tanks. (Actually,
we had oxygen on the wall there because they’d
redone the unit that we used, 3C.) It was an open
ward, which was handy. I kind of liked that better
than the private rooms because you could see
everything that was going on. If somebody
crashed or something, you could be right there.

I was in Philadelphia two years and then I
went to Taiwan. I arrived there in an air-evac
plane on New Year’s Eve in 1964. My head nurse
in recovery room in Philadelphia was my chief
nurse in Taiwan. The recovery room and inten-
sive care were combined when I was in Phila-
delphia. We had about twenty-four beds. Eight
were recovery beds, so we had a lot of intensive
care patients.

I was in Taiwan for fifteen months. We were
general duty nurses there. I worked on the de-
pendents unit. At night, we had one nurse for the
whole hospital. We only had a fifty-bed hospital.



I worked both the military and the dependents’
ward. The place was staffed with corpsmen and on
the women’s ward we had local Chinese women
that spoke English. They were Chinese nurses
who had midwife experience. That was part of
the basic program in the Taiwanese nursing
schools. They worked for me because I was the
only one interested in labor and delivery. I was
still young enough that it didn't scare the you-
know-what out of me. But on the unit, there were
a couple of nurses who would panic when they
had to help a woman deliver a baby, even a nor-
mal delivery. Of course the doctors were there to
help. Some of them hadn’t done a delivery either.
I trusted the Chinese nurses completely, and they
knew it.

At the end of fifteen months, I left Taiwan
and went to Great Lakes, Illinois. I started out as
a staff nurse. I met the OR supervisor, and she
said, “We need OR nurses.” So I said, “Well, I
can’'t do a thing about it.” She beat tracks to the
chief nurse’s office. The next week I was down in
the OR.

I took over the OR tech school. I ran the
school and worked as a staff nurse too. There
was a corps school even then. There was a spe-
cialty for OR. We needed OR techs in Vietnam.
Most of my students went to Nam. The com-
manding officer called me into his office one day.
His name was Alt Britton. He asked if I could
change my lesson plans and create an on-the-job
training program. I said, “Give me a week, but I
do want the privilege of being the one to select
the students. Then if I screw up, I've got nobody
to blame but myself. I don't want somebody
shoving off somebody on me that they don't
want around anymore.” He said, “You've got
free hand.”

The corpsmen from the on-the-job training
went to Vietnam just as rapidly as the ones that
had gone to the school. I was in Great Lakes from
May 1966 to the middle of May 1968. It was a
two-year tour. Then I got orders to Vietnam. My
supervisor called me out of my room and said,
“You're wanted in the chief nurse’s office.” Captain
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Dirk was the chief nurse at the time. She said,
“You've got orders to Vietnam.” I came out of
that chair and whooped it up, and she looked at
me as though [ was crazy. She said, “Can I take it
from that that you're glad about these orders.”
I said yes.

I wanted to go to Vietnam out of curiosity
and for the adventure. All of us that were there at
the time, twenty-nine women and five men, were
volunteers in Vietnam. There was one nurse who
was given the option of refusing orders, but she
said, “No, I'll go.” The rest of us asked for it and
put it on our preference card in great big red let-
ters. During World War II when I was young, I
was fascinated whenever I'd see a woman in uni-
form. I'm sure that subconsciously, that had
something to do with me joining the navy.

In Vietnam I was sent to Da Nang. We had
an eight hundred bed land-based hospital there.
They called us a dispensary. We used to laugh
and say it was the biggest dispensary in the
world. We were separate from the other military.
The air force had a small unit, but they partici-
pated mostly in the air-evac process. The 95th
Army Hospital was about a mile and a half down
the road from us. Our quarters were air-condi-
tioned Quonset huts. Their quarters were barracks
right on the beach. They got a nice breeze off the
beach. They wore their fatigues. The drip-dry
uniforms were ideal for Nam.

I'ran the operating room in Da Nang. Jeannie
Higgins was our supervisor. There were only five
of us in the OR: two of us on days, one on after-
noons, one on nights, and one got a day off.
There were eight operating rooms that we could
use. We didn’t have all of them open at the same
time very often, but when we had a sweep going
on and a lot of casualties coming in, we did. The
corpsmen did the majority of the work. If some-
body came in with just one wound, depending
on where it was, we didn’t pay much attention to
him because most of the casualties came in with
multiple wounds. The first patient I took care of
that came in by helicopter had his arm blown off,
his eyeball was hanging down on his cheek, and
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both his legs were blown off. And he had zits all
over in his belly. A zit was where a piece of shrap-
nel had taken out a chunk of skin. We had to
open him up and make sure there wasn’t any
problem there. A lot of what we did was gross
and terrible.

There were some funny things that hap-
pened too. On New Year’s Eve, two of the corps-
men got drunker than skunks. I was on night
duty and I went up to ICU to see if there was
anything they needed help with. One of my
friends was taking a break, so I went and sat by
her and we talked a little bit. We heard a ruckus
coming down the sidewalk —somebody singing
“Auld Lang Syne.” Here came two corpsmen,
one tall and dressed like Father Time, with a
sheet draped around him, a cardboard staff, and
his combat boots. The other guy was potbellied
and shorter, wearing a sheet like a diaper and his
combat boots. He was the New Year’s Baby. He
had his combat boots. We laughed and laughed.
They went through all the wards waking the pa-
tients up singing “Auld Lang Syne.” We didn't
stop them.

We had four medical wards, four surgical
wards, one POW ward, a urology ward, and an
ENT ward. The POW ward was for MVA and
Vietcong that we captured. I worked there too.
We had twenty-two beds on that ward, and they
were always full. When they were well enough,
we sent them to POW camps. There were camps
in Da Nang and then there was a big camp down
around Chu Lai.

One of my favorite POWs was a ten-year-
old Vietcong. The marines captured him and an
older boy and brought them in one night while I
was doing the OR. They smelled to high heaven!
I think they found them in a manure pile or some-
thing. They were not going to enter my operating
room like that. In our pre-op area we had a gar-
den hose that we used to hose them off with after
we had scrubbed them down with betadine. The
Vietcong didn’t speak any English. We did sur-
gery on them and took care of their zits. Some of
them required sewing up. Mostly we just scrubbed
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their wounds to get the dirt and everything out
so they didn't get infected. We made sure there
weren’t any internal injuries or anything and sent
them up to the ward. We sent the oldest kid out
to the POW camp within three or four days be-
cause he was really hard core. We were a little bit
nervous about keeping him there at the hospital.
But we just spoiled the stuffing out of the ten-
year-old; he was real cute. I was on the 3:00 to
11:00 shift on four medical wards and the POW
ward for two months. One evening I was making
rounds and he met me at the door. We had marine
guards with their M-16s and sidearms and every-
thing, and they would open the door for me to go
into the unit. He was standing there. The corps-
men had taken a paper pajama top and made it
up, colored it with marking pens to make it look
like a waiter’s jacket, and draped one of those
green towels across his arm. He handed me an
iced Kool-Aid and said, “May I help you?”

He didn’t speak English when he came, but
he did when he left. The kids taught him. He
went to POW camp as well. We don’t know what
happened to him. That’s the sad part. Of course,
that was thirty-five years ago.

We had an MVA sergeant who was quite an
artist. We went through special services and got
him a bunch of paints. He painted murals on all
the walls in the unit just to keep busy. He spoke
five languages, including Vietnamese, French, and
Russian. We taught him English.

Another special patient I had while I was
working on the medical wards was an African-
American youngster from Detroit. And you
know,  made rounds at all hours until 11:30 p.m.,
and he didn't like me going out in the dark. He
said, “You go out to the dark to make rounds, I'm
comin’ with ya.” He was recovering from malaria
on the malaria ward. He would make rounds
with me. He was my protector. One day when I
went on duty they were taking a guy off of the
ward out to the ship. He was in a straitjacket and
just acting crazier than the devil. They had a psy-
chiatric unit on the ship. They flew him out there
and after I took the report from the day nurse,



this kid came in and said, “Can I talk to you?”
I said, “Sure. Come with me while I make my
first rounds.” He said, “You know that guy that
we saw going out of the ward? He’s not crazy. He
was high on drugs. There’s a drug ring right here
on the compound.” I said, “Now wait a minute
before you tell me anymore. I'm obliged by my
commission to pass it on.” He said, “I think
you should.”

So he told me the whole story. I beat tracks
right down to that front office. The Medical Ser-
vice Corps Officer that I'd talked with was
named Walt Godfrey. He said, “You know, how
can we trust this guy?” I said, “Well, how can I
not? Can we afford not to trust him—not to take
heed? The problem is now that he’s told what’s
going on, his life is in danger. They’re going to
Kill him.”

We got him out of there and sent him back
to the States real quick. We broke up the drug
ring for a while at least. I was escorted to and
from work for about three weeks, to make sure
they were gone.

The Vietcong were very close. We had sniper
fire coming in all the time. We think they deliber-
ately missed us and were just trying to harass us,
because we did take care of some of their people.
Our barber was picked up one day. It was discov-
ered that he was Vietcong. We used to hire local
Vietnamese to fill sand bags and put the sand
bags around everywhere. One of the bag ladies
was filling and placing the sand bags. They
brought a POW down to x-ray, and it was her
cousin, so we got rid of her. So we never knew.
We didn't pick anything up off the ground unless
you put it there yourself because it could be an
explosive of some sort. One of their favorite tricks
was to take a soda pop can and cut the bottom
out of it. Then they’d pull the pin off a grenade,
stuff it in there, and set it down. When someone
picked it up, the grenade would fall out and go
off. That was one of their favorite tricks. We
didn’t throw away any of our batteries, portable
radios, flashlights, or anything like that in the
garbage because they would get them. They'd
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still have enough juice in them to use for a booby
trap. They would rig pencils, so we got kind of
paranoid after a while. So I called it my “year of
contradictions.” We were in a war zone, and our
lives were in danger. If I really thought about it, I
could drive myself crazy. We'd go up to a place
just east of us called Monkey Mountain, which
was a communication center for the air force. The
view from the mountain top of Da Nang Beach
looked like the Riviera. It was gorgeous. We went
sailing on Da Nang Bay.

There were Quonset huts on the doctors’
quarters. The doctors had built a deck on top,
and they would go up there and have cocktails,
and the nurses would go join them. But they
were perfect targets for somebody to shoot at.
One night an anesthesiologist was up there. It
was close to midnight, and he was the last one up
there. They started shooting rockets over us to
try to hit the air base across the road. One of
those rockets went awry and came right at him.
It didn’t hit him, but he dove off of the Quonset
hut platform and went head first in the sand!
He said, “I didn’t care. I didn’t want to be blown
up by a rocket.” We teased him about that all
the time.

The watch room was close to the OR office.
It had a set of those gray bunk beds. This anes-
thesiologist had a nice little pot belly. One night
when I was on duty, mortar started landing on
our helicopter pad, and he dove under the bot-
tom bed to take cover. We went where we could
to take cover. I went under the desk. After the
attack was over and the all clear sounded, I heard
this “Val? Oh Val?” I answered, “What?” The voice
said, “I can’t get out!” I called my corpsmen’s
watch room up by the OR and said, “Can you
come down and help me get Dr. Aviado out from
under his bed?” They had to lift the bed up com-
pletely to get him out. That was funny.

One night there was an ammunition dump
down by the army hospital that went up in
flames, and stuff was going off all over the place.
It was like the Fourth of July. One of the guys that
administered anesthesia was a dentist, but he’d
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had a year of anesthesia. We went up on top of
the MUST unit, one of those mobile units like the
army used in Korea. Everything was portable.
You could do surgery in there. I can’t remember
what MUST stands for, something about trauma.
But anyway, it was all steel, so we went up on top
of it. I said to Jim, “You know what? We're going
to get our butts shot off. We're silhouetted against
the fireworks.” He scrambled down as fast as he
could go, and I was right behind him.

One night I was on duty from 3:00 to
11:00 p.m., and we had just finished some cases
in the OR and were cleaning up, and I was doing
my paperwork. I heard what sounded like a tank
driving up to the triage area. I thought, what in
the world is going on? I went down to the triage
area and there was a big armored personnel car-
rier. They had been coming down the road from
behind Marble Mountain. The guys who were
going in front of it to check the road for mines
had stepped on one, and five of them got injured.
So the personnel carrier driver and a couple of
the other people who didn’t get hurt loaded them
all in the personnel carrier. They didn't even call
for airlift. We were so well-organized. We had
those five guys triaged, through x-ray (we did
total body x-rays), through pre-op with their IVs
started, their NG tubes down, and their foleys in
and so forth and into the OR in fifteen minutes.
And that’s how slick we were organized. The lit-
ter bearers carried the litters; that is all they did.
One of them was assigned to cut the clothes off.
Another was assigned to put the ID tags on. An-
other one was assigned to take the valuables and
put them in a safe—and everybody did their job.
Everybody knew what their job was. As soon as
I went down and saw what it was, | had my crew
out to start setting up the rooms.

I went through the whole year there with-
out any injury. The last week there, I was really
paranoid for fear something was going to hap-
pen. A lot of people got killed the last day they
were there or something like that. So I got over to
the air base, and my flight didn’t come in until
10:00 p.m., which was really a no-no because
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they didn't like them to come in after dark. We
would always get attacked after dark. This flight
was late coming in, so I went out and got on it.
One of the general medical officers was flying
back on the same flight with me. I looked out the
window and some of my friends had come down
and see me off. They were standing at the edge
the tarmac, where there was a fence. I asked the
stewardess, “Do I have time to go say goodbye to
my friends?”

She said, “Yeah, but make it quick.” So I ran
across the tarmac. It was dark and I stumbled
across a fuel mine and did a spread eagle on the
tarmac, ripped my hose, dislocated my knee cap,
and got my uniform filthy. We had the blue
Dacron uniforms. I ripped two buttons off and
skinned my hands. I got over there, and my friends
said, “Well, you're a mess, aren’t ya?”

I said, “Yeah. Heck, I didn't get out of here
without getting injured!” One of them went into
the john and took off her hose and brought them
to me, and another one took the buttons out of
her uniform and gave them to me so I could have
a complete uniform. I got back on the airplane,
and the doctor, Paul Titas, said, “What happened
to you?” I said, “I'm in a war zone!” The stew-
ardess came along and said, “I don’t think I
should have let you do that.” I said, “Just get me
a washcloth.” So I washed off my knee as best I
could. By the time we got back to the States (it
was an eighteen-hour flight), my knee was
very swollen.

I went to Indiana University in Indianapo-
lis for graduate school. I got my master’s degree,
and the navy paid for it. I was one of the fortu-
nate ones who got picked for that.

I went to the reunion in San Francisco in
1990. That’s the only one I've been too. I went
when we dedicated the Vietham Women’s Memo-
rial in 1993. That was delightful. There were
twenty of the thirty-four nurses that I served
with at that dedication. It was really poignant. It
was almost a spiritual experience. It meant so
much to so many people.



The Vietnam War ended in 1975 and then I
stayed on another ten years after that. I was able to
contribute my nursing skills to subsequent mili-
tary engagements. It is so important to me to see
that our work made a difference. Whenever Con-
gress gets their hackles up about women in com-
bat zones, I just laugh because we’ve been in
combat zones since the Crimean War.

I am a Latter-day Saint. I hadn’t been an ac-
tive member for a number of years before I went
to Nam. I became active again in 1976 when I was
in Philly. My faith has impacted my whole life.
I certainly was protected while I was in the mili-
tary.  never got injured, except for the fall. Some-
body was protecting me.

PATRICIA RUSHTON

have never written about my experiences in

the United States Navy, but I have never been

reticent to talk about them. I have just never
taken the time to write a permanent record. I am
sure there is some reference to my navy career in
my journals and in pictures I have taken, but it
would probably be a good thing to organize my
thoughts and experiences into a record that
might be understandable and perhaps useful to
others. It has been almost forty years now since
my relationship with the navy began, so I had
better write it down soon or I won’t be able to re-
member it at all.

I entered the University of Utah in fall 1967,
declaring my major as nursing. I don’t remember
there ever being a question that I would have a
spot in the program. I don’t think anyone ever
mentioned a selection process to me in 1967.
There just wasn’t any question, at least in my
mind, that I would not take the required courses
and graduate as a nurse. Lately I have learned
that only a small number of the applicants were
actually admitted.

During the first year of classes, nursing can-
didates took an Orientation to Nursing course.
We got the basic information about what nursing
was, what it meant to be a “professional” nurse,
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ethical behavior, and so forth. Those instructors
seemed so mature to me then, but they were
probably fairly young and didn’t have a lot of
years in nursing. In fact, my pediatric nursing in-
structor was teaching her first nursing class
when she taught mine. Little did we know how
inexperienced and immature she was. Now she
is the associate dean for research at BYU College
of Nursing. Nursing as a profession was pretty
immature as well. Nurses were still trying to de-
fine what appropriate behavior was, what being
a professional meant, and what our role was. We
have come a long way in forty years. In this class,
there was one session where military nurse re-
cruiters came to talk to us and try and get us to
enlist. They all came in dress uniform, looking
very sharp. However, there wasn’t much differ-
ence in their stories. They were all going to pay
our way through school for a certain length of
time and then expect us to serve on active duty for
a specific period of time in order to pay back the
debt. Salaries and benefits were about the same;
after all, the government is the government. The
only thing that was really different was the uni-
form, and I liked the navy’s the best.

Patricia Rushton
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The information sounded really good to me.
I knew it was going to be tough to come up with
money for four years of school. My parents were
very supportive but not rich, so I knew they
couldn’t pay the way. I had saved some money,
but I knew I didn’t have enough to get through
four years without working. I wasn't afraid to
work; I just didn't know if it would be enough.
Besides, even for me, a rather drab, stay-at-home
girl, the military sounded kind of exciting. The
opportunities for travel and education sounded
pretty good, and it felt kind of good to be part of
something special like the navy. I talked to my
parents, mostly my mother, about it. She never
had anything negative to say. She thought it was
a good idea, not necessarily from the standpoint
of money, but because she thought it would open
up opportunities that I might never get any other
way. She was right.

I joined the navy the third year of nursing
school. The government paid my books and tu-
ition and a salary for those last two years. Because
I lived at home, I could bank most of the salary.
For the first time, I had money of my own. Though
I don’t think I was extravagant, I was able to buy
some things for myself. I remember that I was
able to buy whatever I wanted for Christmas
gifts during those last two Christmas seasons
under my parents roof. It was a very liberating
experience. There have been times when I didn’t
have much money or I didn’t manage it well. The
two experiences have taught me that saving
money and managing it well can make a person
free, and not having money or managing it poorly
can make you a prisoner and a slave.

I was commissioned an O-1, or an ensign,
six months before I graduated. I don’t remember
taking anyone with me to the commissioning cer-
emony. It was short, and it was a means of get-
ting further down the road toward graduation
and active duty. My parents would have gone.
They were never anything but supportive in all
my activities. I think I just didn't realize what an
impact that single day was going to have on the
rest of my life.
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I graduated from the University of Utah
College of Nursing in June 1971 and in Septem-
ber went off to Newport, Rhode Island, to Officer
Training School. I was there one month. It was
the first time I had ever been away from home on
my own. It was pretty hard for my mother too.
That same week she had sent my brother Delbert
off on a mission, and my sister Suzanne had got-
ten married. She lost three kids in the same week.
She said that my brother was going the farthest
but that he was the only one she didn’t worry
about because she knew the Lord was taking care
of him. The day Momma took me to the airport,
I forgot my coat. Momma insisted on going home
to get it so I could take it on the plane. I should
have told her to mail it and had her stay to spend
those last few minutes with me.

When the cab (my first cab ride) drove into
Newport from the airport, I remember seeing
those big ships docked in the bay. I had never
seen the ocean before, and I had never seen such
big ships anywhere but in the movies. The movies
don’t hold a candle to the real thing.

We were so busy during the month of train-
ing that I didn’t think too much about being
homesick. When I graduated from training in
Newport a month later, my parents were not able
to come at that time either. Momma wrote and
told me how proud they were of me and how
sorry they were that they couldn’t be with me
and how much she and Daddy loved me. I really
felt their absence this time around.

I served at the Philadelphia Naval Hospital
for three years. At the time, there were five big
naval hospitals: Philadelphia, Bethesda, Long
Beach, San Diego, and Oak Knoll in Oakland,
California. I had purposely asked to go to
Philadelphia because it was the East Coast center
for orthopedics and amputees. My recruiting
nurse had talked so much about working with
amputees that I really wanted to do that. I had
never been to the East Coast, and I really wanted
to see some of the historic sites like Philadelphia,
Boston, and Washington DC. At the hospital, I
was assigned to work on the orthopedic and am-
putee wards.



The Philadelphia Naval Hospital, being a
rather old facility, consisted of a number of big,
open wards with probably twenty beds to a ward
but no real walls and sometimes no curtains be-
tween beds. The nurses’ station was right in the
middle and you could see from one end of the
ward to the other. The philosophy was that no-
body in the service really deserved any privacy,
and with the open environment you could really
see what was going on everywhere in the ward.
The privacy issue was rarely a problem. These
young guys were used to a ship space 6 feet by
4 feet and practically sleeping in the next guy’s
bunk. They didn’t have a lot of belongings, so
they didn’t need a storage space. Their physical
closeness helped everyone be a support to every-
one else.

These kids, servicemen in their twenties,
were usually very supportive and helpful from a
physical standpoint and emotionally supportive
to the guys who needed that kind of help.

Occasionally, the open ward situation could
be a problem. These servicemen were young,
often lonesome and homesick, emotionally trau-
matized by their war experiences, and sometimes
not very mature. One young man got upset with
something that was happening on the ward one
day and just started yelling and screaming. It
was very aggravating to other patients, but I
knew there was no way I was going to physically
control this guy. He was bigger and stronger than
I was. I tried to just ignore him, not providing
any positive feedback for his behavior. The other
patients just put up with him. However, my su-
pervisor was very upset that I wasn’t doing any-
thing about the situation. I explained to her that
I didn't have any ideas and that if she knew some
way to control him, she was welcome to have a
try. I honestly can’t remember what happened to
resolve the problem. I only remember that there
wasn't any way to isolate this patient or the situ-
ation from anyone else. It was the only time in a
year and a half on that ward that I ever remem-
ber the open ward being a problem.
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During many of the months on the ortho-
pedic floors one of the patients was an older
African American navy chief. He had had both
legs amputated and was in the process of rehab
when one morning he had a heart attack and
died. Everyone on the ward, including nursing
staff, really respected this man and felt terrible
when he died, and all of the other patients were
supportive to each other and to the nursing and
medical staff while we coped with the loss.

There were five wards in the orthopedic de-
partment. On the day shift there was one nurse
and two to three corpsmen per ward. On after-
noons there was one nurse for all five wards and
one to two corpsmen for each ward. On the night
shift there was one nurse for all five wards and
one corpsman per ward. Ninety percent of the
patients, however, were really physically well.
They had a broken bone or were limping around
and simply couldn't be on board a ship. Since
they had to be stationed somewhere, they were
stationed at the hospital and would stay there
until they were well enough to go back to their
regular duty station. A nurse was frequently re-
sponsible for the health and welfare of eighty to
a hundred patients, but usually less than ten were
significantly sick. The other seventy to ninety
generally just tried your patience. They were
really adolescents who had been sent to do men’s
work and somehow grew up in the process. But
their teenage tricks and lack of common sense
frequently got them in trouble and made the
nurse wonder if she would survive her naval
career. It must be remembered, as well, that
the nurses were really youngsters, too. Most of the
nurses were right out of nursing school and really
didn’t know very much. We were all growing up
as well. We usually had come from very different
backgrounds than the patients we were taking
care of or the other nursing staff we worked with,
and we really had no experience dealing with
military matters or some life matters.

Some examples might be entertaining. One
day I was having difficulty getting a locker (closet)
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door open. I said to the corpsman, a pretty good-
sized, burly kind of guy, “I want that door open.
I don’t care what you have to do to make it hap-
pen.” He took me at my word and proceeded to
take the door off the hinges. The action really
amounted to destruction of government property,
a felony offense. I never imagined he would go to
such lengths—he was just following a senior
officer’s order. We both really heard it from the
supervisor. Fortunately, no one pressed charges.
However, I learned to be careful what I said and
to be specific in my requests. What would have
been casual requests carried out with common
sense at home were officers’ orders that the en-
listed personnel had to carry out to the letter in
the navy, regardless of the consequences.

I got so I hated the Friday and Saturday
p-m. shift. Friday and Saturday afternoon and
evening were the nights that those who were
physically able would go on liberty. They would
go out in Philadelphia and the surrounding area
and often take in the sights and sounds of the
nearest bar, showing back up in the hospital
pretty drunk. Coming from my Latter-day Saint
background, I had no experience with drunks or
drinking. One night a fellow came back in and
complained about his back hurting. He said he had
been drinking, but he seemed to be in pretty good
shape and either he didn't tell me or I didn’t un-
derstand how much he had had to drink. I called
the doc about the man’s pain, and he ordered
Valium, a reasonable dose, as a muscle relaxant.
After I had given the medication, this guy’s bud-
dies told me how much beer he had had to drink.
It was a lot. This kid slept for twenty-four hours
straight. Between the beer and the Valium, he
had a pretty good hangover. He nearly scared me
to death. I was sure that the combination of drugs
would kill him. I didn’t realize then that it is very
rare for anyone to overdose on Valium, certainly
not an adult of average size and with the dose I
had given him.

The enlisted men, patients, and staff were
expected to follow orders. The marines were ex-
ceptionally strict about this, and it was sort of in-
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grained in them to follow orders instinctively
without thinking too much about it. One of the
patients on the ward was a very young marine
who had lost a leg. It was standard policy that
patients who were physically able to do so got up
at 0600 in the morning, made their own beds,
and got washed up before breakfast. I would
faithfully go around and shake the patients bed
at 0600 and tell them to get up and get going. In-
stinctively, this marine jumped out of bed when I
shook his bunk and crashed on the floor because
he forgot he was missing a leg. During a separate
incident, another marine told me never to touch
him when I woke him in the morning but only to
shake the traction bars on the bed and to not get
any closer to him than the end of the bed. He let
me know that those who had served in Vietnam
instinctively would defend themselves if touched
by surprise, and he was truly afraid that he
would reach out and strike me, or anyone else, if
he was surprised.

I was fortunate to get Philadelphia as my
duty station, but I had not counted on how far
away from home it was or how homesick I was
going to be. I had never been away from home
for an extended period before, and during that
first six months in Philadelphia, I thought I was
going to die. Homesickness truly can be a termi-
nal disease, but I coped in several ways. I learned
to use the telephone to make long distance calls
home on a regular and frequent basis. This was
in the days when people didn’t make long dis-
tance phone calls unless it was an emergency.
The first time I called home from Philly, my mother
thought something terrible had happened. Then
she thought I was being really frivolous with my
money. [ had to hear her voice and hear what was
happening to my family or I would have gone
crazy, so I figured it was worth spending the
money for it. After a few months, my mother
thought I was terrible if I didn’t call home at least
once a week. It was a habit I maintained for the
rest of my life, as long as my mother was alive,
except that when I got home I called her at least
once a day. She expected it, and I wanted to do it.



While I was on my mission, I wrote every P-day,
and she wrote at least once a week.

After a few months I made some friends.
One was Kathy Kress. She was from Florida, and
she was Catholic. She was a good friend. She
never asked me to do anything that she knew
was against my faith, and I did the same for her.
We did so many things together. From time to
time I think about her willingness to take me as I
was and let me do the same and think how fortu-
nate I was to have such a friend. I haven’t seen
Kathy since she left Philadelphia.

Another friend was a member of the
Church, Elizabeth Blackwell. She was a convert
to the Church and a medical student at Jefferson
University. Liz and I became very good friends
and good support for each other in the gospel.
Liz ended up coming to Utah, marrying a psy-
chologist, and working at the BYU Health Cen-
ter. She currently remains in that position and is
living in Alpine, Utah.

Thank goodness for the gospel. I remained
active in the Church in Philadelphia. Attending
church was much different in Philly. There wasn't
a Latter-day Saint chapel on every corner. It took
about a half hour by car through center-city Phila-
delphia to get to the Philadelphia Ward chapel.
I'went every week. I was even called to be the Pri-
mary president in charge of both an English- and
Spanish-speaking Primary. I had no children, of
course, and I couldn’t speak any Spanish at that
time, so I am not sure I was any help to that
Primary, but the bishop felt he needed a Utah
Mormon to help converts understand what
Church organizations were all about. I remember
expressing my frustration to my mother. She
said, “Don’t worry about it. Remember that once
the Lord has started something, nothing can stop
it. Maybe your job is only to get this started.”
It was a testimony of how important the gospel
is and of how the Lord can and will make im-
portant things happen. I have never forgotten
what she said.

I spent three years in Philadelphia. Besides
my experiences with the amputees, I worked for
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a year and a half in the hospital’s emergency
room. My navy experiences taught me a great
deal. I learned how to be a nurse. I learned about
disease and healing and anatomy and patho-
physiology. I learned how to prioritize and or-
ganize and face emergencies and work hard and
get the work done. I came to appreciate the navy
and the financial, psychological, and emotional
benefits I received from being a member of that
organization.

Mostly, I learned about myself. I learned
how strong my testimony was. I learned how im-
portant the Church was to me. It was while I was
in Philadelphia that the still, small voice came to
me and testified that the gospel was true and that
The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints
was the only true and living church on the earth
today. I had always known it and behaved like I
knew it, but I had never had the Spirit fill my
soul as it did one Sunday as I sat in sacrament
meeting at the Philadelphia Ward. I learned how
important my family was to me, especially my
mother. Though that wonderful person no longer
lives here on the earth, I think of her daily and
hope that my actions would please her.

When I was discharged from active duty in
the spring of 1974, I remained in the Navy Reserve
in Salt Lake City. I stayed active in the Navy Re-
serve, extending my navy career for almost
twenty-five years. I drilled one weekend every
month and went to an active duty site, usually a
large naval hospital, for two weeks every year,
with only a couple of exceptions. This experience
cemented my relationship with the nation’s mili-
tary. Though there were times when the weekend
drills were inconvenient and I didn’t always like
everybody I worked with, for the most part the
people were good and the experiences were ben-
eficial. I think that can be said of any work-type
relationship experienced in this world. In the
process of that twenty-two years in the reserves I
bought a house, bought two cars, got a master’s
degree, and saw a number of places in this nation
that I would never have seen if I hadn’t been
attached to the navy. I met a lot of good people.
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I hope I influenced their lives for good. I know
that my association with them made my life
more pleasant.

In late summer of 1989, Iraq invaded
Kuwait in order to control their oil supply.
Kuwait yelled for help, and the United States
came running. Of course we wanted to maintain
the environment of freedom under which the
Kuwaitis lived. Of course we wanted to maintain
the friendship of peoples in the Middle East that
we had previously supported. But the United
States was also smart enough to know that if Iraq
took over the oil fields of Kuwait, life could get
tough for any country dependent on Kuwaiti oil.
I personally had no difficulty with this conflict
because I think groups of people should have the
opportunity to decide for themselves who will
govern them and not have another militant leader
decide it for them. And, interestingly enough, as
American troops went to Kuwait, so did members
of the Latter-day Saint Church who impacted the
lives of their comrades and possibly those who
live in the Middle East. Time will tell.

As reserve forces were mobilized, there were
anumber of reservists who wanted to avoid being
sent to Kuwait or to support sites stateside or
overseas. For some reason, there were reservists
who didn’t seem to think they should serve at a
time of national crisis, even though they had al-
ready collected the benefits of belonging to the
reserves. I didn’t have much pity for those who
thought they should stay home because of family
or work obligations. They knew the deal when
they enlisted. My mother had terminal cancer at
the time, and I could only pray that I would not
be mobilized until she didn’t need me anymore.
Several people said to me, “You're really going to
go?” My response was, “Well, you can't be in this
canoe club for twenty years and then tell them
you won’t go when they really need you.” Re-
servists began to be mobilized in August 1989.
My mother died January 11, 1990, and I was mo-
bilized in early February of that year.

I was mobilized to do support duty at Oak
Knoll Naval Hospital in Oakland, California. The
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reservists were sent to take the place of the active
duty forces who had been mobilized to the hos-
pital ship Mercy, which was sent to the Persian
Gulf to take care of active duty troops. Medical
personnel were often expected to do types of
duty that they were not used to doing. They were
often afraid of or very uncomfortable with the
new duties that were required of them. Fortu-
nately for me, I'm just an old medical/surgical
nurse, and I knew exactly what to do: plain old-
fashioned nursing. Interestingly, I was asked to
be the night supervisor. This meant I worked
from 11 p.m. to 7 a.m., having essentially a four-
day weekend because I would get off at 7 a.m. on
Friday morning and didn’t have to be back to
work until 11 p.m. on Monday. This allowed me
to come home frequently and to make it to
church every Sunday, and since I was in Oak-
land, the schedule even made it possible for me
to attend the temple once a month. I was at Oak
Knoll from February until Memorial Day, not
long, and then came home.

Again, the gospel was very important to
me. It was a strength to me because my mother
had just died and only with knowledge of the
plan of salvation could I have gone on function-
ing in a strange situation. When I wasn't sure if I
would eventually end up at the front, the gospel
gave me a foundation and the understanding of
why I was here on this earth and the assurance
that I could learn from every situation. My home
ward was initially very supportive of my leaving.
It was mostly emotional support since I really
didn’t leave anyone behind for them to take care
of. Nobody volunteered to keep an eye on my
house. Fortunately, my brother Cory was willing
to do that, and fortunately, it was winter, so not
much needed to be done. I can’t say that the ward
in Oakland was particularly helpful. I don't think
the bishop spoke to me more than once, and that
was when I was handing him the one tithing pay-
ment I paid to that ward. No one spoke to me,
acknowledged I was there, or even asked who I
was. I was just another body taking up a space in
the sacrament meeting. It didn't take long to real-



ize that there was no reason to change my mem-
bership records to that Oakland Ward, and I just
kept sending my tithes and offerings to my home
ward. The experience taught me that my testi-
mony was strong enough to survive, even with-
out the support of others. I was pretty certain
about that, but this experience just assured it.
The war ended almost as quickly as it
started. Those who had been mobilized and who
had rearranged their lives completely when
called were sent home just as quickly. When they
were mobilized, they understood the reason: the
United States was at war, even if they didn’t
agree with it. But when they were sent home,
they had to downgrade their emotions from con-
stant tension about their future to feeling un-
wanted by the military who had so desperately
needed them only nine months earlier. Some
were ecstatic, but many were disappointed, frus-
trated, angry, and afraid about going back to real
life after being involved in a war. I was fortunate.
I had a really good friend, Sherry Brown, who
had been mobilized as well, only she went to the
“sand” in Saudi Arabia. She had been discharged
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about a month before me, and she came to Oak-
land and drove home with me. We were able to
talk about our experiences and sort of wind down.
Fortunately we both had jobs to go back to. There
would still be interesting and difficult experi-
ences for me to go through, but the fact that I am
writing this demonstrates that I did a pretty good
job of making it through those experiences.

I stayed in the Naval Reserve until 1997. At
that time I was a commander and had been passed
over three times, once each year, for captain. The
navy rule was this: three times passed over and
you were out. The officer who told me I had to
get out wasn’t quite that blunt, but close. I had
really wanted to stay in for thirty years, but I
had almost twenty-five, which was plenty to col-
lect retirement, so it is probably just as well that
I got out when I did. We are facing a new war
now, Operation Enduring Freedom, and I don't
know about going this time. I am physically,
financially, and emotionally able to go. It might
be harder to find someone to care for the critters
now. However, I would pack my bags and go if
was needed.
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